# On the Exterior Stationary Problem for the Navier-Stokes Equations, and Associated Perturbation Problems

# ROBERT FINN

Contents					
1. Introduction	363				
2. The Linearized Equations	367				
2.1. Preliminary lemmas	367				
2.2. Generalized solutions; the Dirichlet bounds	369				
2.3. Fundamental solutions; the local representation	371				
2.4. Local regularity of generalized solutions	373				
2.5. Representation in the large	374				
2.6. The Green's tensor	376				
3. The Underlying Estimate	378				
4. The Nonlinear Problem; Existence	382				
5. Asymptotic Structure of the Solutions; Uniqueness					
6. Perturbation to Zero Reynolds' Number	394				
6.1. Perturbations vanishing at infinity	395				
6.2. A lemma on Green's tensor	399				
6.3. General perturbation of class $PR$	<b>402</b>				
6.4. General perturbation of class $D$	403				
References	405				

#### 1. Introduction

The exterior stationary problem for the Navier-Stokes equations

(1) 
$$-\frac{\partial w}{\partial t} + v \Delta w - w \cdot \nabla w - \nabla p = -f,$$
$$\nabla \cdot w = 0$$

consists in finding a time independent solution pair w(x), p(x) of (1) in a domain  $\mathscr{E}$  exterior to a closed surface  $\Sigma$ , such that  $w(x) \rightarrow w_0$ , a prescribed constant vector, as  $x \rightarrow \infty$ , and w(x) assumes prescribed data  $w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ .

The equations (1) correspond to the motion of an incompressible viscous fluid. The quantities which appear have the following physical significance:

w: flow velocity vector;

t: time;

v: kinematic viscosity;

p: pressure;

- f: external force, assumed prescribed;
- x: position in space.

If  $w^* \equiv 0$ ,  $w_0 \neq 0$ , the problem amounts to the determination, in a coordinate frame attached to  $\Sigma$ , of the flow velocities in a steady motion of  $\Sigma$  through the fluid with velocity  $-w_0$ , under the assumption that the fluid adheres at

#### ROBERT FINN:

the surface (the no-slip condition). This problem is the principal motivation for the present paper. One of the results (§ 4) will be a proof (constructive) that if the data are sufficiently small, there exists exactly one solution whose behavior corresponds to physical experience. This solution exhibits a "wake region" of fluid behind  $\Sigma$  which tends to follow  $\Sigma$  along the direction  $-w_0$ , and the work required to move that mass of fluid results in a "drag force" on  $\Sigma$  in the opposite direction. More precisely, the velocity is shown to tend to its limit at infinity to the order  $|x|^{-1}$  within the wake, and at the more rapid rate,  $|x|^{-2}$ , in any direction other than that of  $w_0$ . The wake is asymptotically paraboloidal. The hypothesis  $\oint_{\Sigma} w^* \cdot d\sigma = 0$  (the zero outflux condition), which has appeared in earlier literature, is not required in this paper.

Other physical problems are also accessible to the method. For example, one may consider a rotating sphere in a fluid at rest or in uniform motion at infinity (the baseball problem), or a situation in which  $\Sigma$  has porous walls through which fluid is being forced at prescribed rates. The results of this paper apply to these and to many other cases of interest; the existence of physically reasonable solutions is, however, demonstrated only in the case in which the data on  $\Sigma$  are close to the prescribed vector  $w_0$ .

The extent to which the requirement of small data reflects the actual behavior of the solutions of (1) is not clear. Both physical experience and a recent result of VELTE [1] strongly suggest that uniqueness will fail if the data are large. On the other hand, it has long been known (cf. LERAY [2], FINN [3, 4]) that smooth solutions exist for very general data, in a class for which the energy dissipation is finite. No regularity properties at infinity of these solutions have been demonstrated, however, beyond continuity, and no information is available on uniqueness. It is not even known whether there are multiple solutions in this class which vanish on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity.

It appears that solutions in three dimensions,  $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ , are more easily studied than in two or higher dimensions, and the three-dimensional case is the only one considered in this paper. Some partial results for two-dimensional flows have been obtained recently by D. SMITH and will appear elsewhere.

It will be assumed that the applied force is time independent, so that f=f(x). Since the solutions to be constructed also have this property, (1) may be written in the form

(2) 
$$v \Delta w - w \cdot \nabla w - \nabla p = -f(x),$$
$$\nabla \cdot w = 0.$$

Solutions are sought as perturbations of the particular solution  $w(x) \equiv w_0 = \text{const.}$  Writing  $w(x; \lambda) = w_0 + \lambda u(x; \lambda)$ , (2) becomes, after relabeling of f(x) and p(x), the system

(3)  
$$\nu \Delta u - w_0 \cdot \nabla u - \nabla p = -f(x) + \lambda u \cdot \nabla u,$$
$$\nabla \cdot u = 0$$

for  $u(x; \lambda)$ . The requirement of small data is conveniently expressed by prescribing fixed data for  $u(x; \lambda)$  and letting  $\lambda$  be small. The solution of the stated problem is then constructed as a perturbation series in powers of  $\lambda$ , using the solution  $U(x; w_0)$  of the linearized system

which satisfies the same data, as initial term. It is shown that for given data  $u^*$  the series converges in an interval  $|\lambda| < \Lambda$ , with  $\Lambda$  independent of  $w_0$ . Consequently, if  $w_0$  is sufficiently small, there is necessarily a solution  $w(x; \lambda)$  which vanishes on  $\Sigma$ .

It is necessary to prove the existence of the "parametrix" solution of (4) and to obtain for it certain *a priori* estimates. This step is carried out in § 2. The existence proof is effected by *Galerkin's method* and follows closely the approach used by FUJITA [5] in his study of (2). The method is constructive. Using the fundamental solution tensor  $E(x-y; w_0) = (E_{ij})$  of (4), which has been given explicitly by OSEEN [6], one then obtains a Green's tensor  $G(x, y; w_0)$ , which has a fundamental singularity and whose components vanish on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity.

The core of the existence proof for the nonlinear equations lies in the estimate

(5) 
$$|x| \int_{\mathscr{S}} |y|^{-2} |\nabla_{y} G(x, y; w_{0})| dy < H < \infty$$

uniformly for all  $x \in \mathscr{E}$  and all  $|w_0|$  in any finite interval. The demonstration of this result presents technical difficulties, chiefly owing to the absence of spatial homogeneity in the equation when  $w_0 \neq 0$ . It is proved in §3 by exploiting the invariance of (4) under transformations which preserve the "Reynolds number", and by adapting potential theoretic methods to the geometry imposed by the equation.

The *a priori* estimate (5) leads easily to the construction (§ 4) of solutions of the nonlinear system (2) for small data, which are such that  $|w(x)-w_0| < C|x|^{-1}$  as  $x \to \infty$ . The proof that these solutions are unique in a sensible class, and that they are the physically reasonable ones which are sought, is carried out in § 5. The idea of this section is taken from my earlier paper [7], and the results are very similar. The material is here developed in a more systematic way than in [7], resulting in an improved estimate which is essential in what follows.

Since the construction of the strict solution of (2) requires many steps, it is both natural and important to examine the sense in which these solutions can be approximated by solutions of the linearized system (4). It turns out that there are four possibilities, leading to different results according to whether or not  $w_0=0$ , and whether the flow is perturbed at infinity. It is also of interest to examine the same problem for the solutions of LERAY mentioned above, which presumably have weaker regularity properties at infinity. Except in one case (the one on which the existence theorem of § 4 is based) the perturbation appears to be singular, owing to the fact that  $\mathscr{E}$  is an infinite region. If  $w_0=0$ and the perturbation is nonvanishing at infinity, this phenomenon finds its expression in two dimensions as the Stokes paradox [ $\vartheta$ ,  $\vartheta$ , 10] and in three dimensions as Whitehead's paradox [ $\vartheta$ , p. 163]. In § 6 the perturbation and its derivatives are estimated in all eight cases. It is seen that the estimates

Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., Vol. 19

#### Robert Finn:

are weakened either by perturbing the flow at infinity or by choosing as base flow the identically vanishing solution  $w_0 \equiv 0$ . Thus the attempt by STOKES [8] to approximate a solution with nonvanishing limiting velocity by a solution of the system

(6) 
$$\boldsymbol{v} \Delta \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{p} = \boldsymbol{0},$$
$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{0}$$

led to singular behavior at infinity, presumably induced by two causes. In two dimensions, this behavior results in the nonexistence of solutions of (6) with the given data. In the three-dimensional case considered here, the solution exists, and the approximation to the strict solution of (2) is even uniform throughout  $\mathscr{E}$  (Theorems 6.5, 6.6), but the approximation is nevertheless weaker than in any of the other cases considered (see Table).

In most of the cases studied in §6, the estimates obtained are considerably more precise than the ones stated in my preliminary announcement of results [10]. However, in the one case  $w_0 \neq 0$ ,  $u_0 = 0$  of Theorem 6.5 the logarithmic expression in the definition of  $\tau_0(x; \lambda)$  does not appear in the corresponding Theorem 3.4 of [10]. I regret that I have misplaced the notes on which the statement of that theorem was based, and I am now unable to reproduce that estimate.

It will be assumed throughout that the bounding surface  $\Sigma$  is of class  $\mathscr{C}^{(1+\alpha)}$ in appropriate non-singular parameters. It was originally my intention to develop the material for the class of surfaces studied recently by EDWARDS [11], who proved the existence of flows in the class D (see below) for surfaces admitting isolated singular curves and conical points — including, in particular, surfaces such as a circular disk embedded in three dimensions. It is my opinion that such a result is accessible to the methods of this paper; however, it would require a considerable technical effort, and it seemed best in this initial contribution to concentrate on those features of the underlying ideas which are qualitatively new.

In addition to the notation already introduced, the following symbols will be used:

- $\mathscr{C}^{k}(\mathscr{E})$ : vector functions whose derivatives up to  $k^{\text{th}}$  order are continuous in  $\mathscr{E}$ .
- $\mathscr{C}^{k+\alpha}(\mathscr{C})$ : functions of class  $\mathscr{C}^{k}(\mathscr{C})$ , whose  $k^{\text{th}}$  order derivatives are Höldercontinuous with exponent  $\alpha$ .
- $\mathscr{C}_0^{k+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$ : functions of class  $\mathscr{C}^{k+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$  which have compact support in  $\mathscr{E}$ .
- $\mathscr{C}^{k+\alpha}_{\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$ : functions  $\varphi$  of class  $\mathscr{C}^{k+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$  which are solenoidal, *i.e.*, such that  $\nabla \cdot \varphi = 0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

 $\mathscr{C}^{k+\alpha}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$ : functions of class  $\mathscr{C}^{k+\alpha}_{\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$  which have compact support in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

 $(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) = \int \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x) \boldsymbol{\psi}(x) dx$  over some given region.

$$((\boldsymbol{\varphi})) = \left( \int |\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x)|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

$$[\mathbf{\phi}, \mathbf{\psi}] = \int V \mathbf{\phi} \cdot V \mathbf{\psi} \, dx.$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\| = (J \| V \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|^2 dx)^2.$$

 $\{\boldsymbol{\varphi},\boldsymbol{\psi},\boldsymbol{\omega}\} = \int \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx.$ 

 $\mathscr{H}_0(\mathscr{E})$ : Hilbert space obtained by completion of  $\mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathscr{E})$  in the norm  $\|\varphi\|$ .

- $\mathscr{H}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$ : Hilbert space obtained by completion of  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$  in the norm  $\|\varphi\|$ .
  - D: class of solutions of (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , having finite Dirichlet integral, see Definition 5.2.
  - PR: class of solution of (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , which are physically reasonable at infinity, see Definition 5.1.
    - C: a quantity which is constant in some expression. Its value may, however, change within a demonstration.
    - E: fundamental solution tensor associated with systems (4) or (6); defined in § 2.3.
  - $E^{\gamma}$ : truncated tensor, see § 2.3.
  - G: Green's tensor for (4).
  - $G_0$ : Green's tensor for (6).

$$T \boldsymbol{w}: \text{ stress tensor, } (T \boldsymbol{w})_{ij} = - p \, \delta_{ij} + \left(\frac{\partial w_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial w_j}{\partial x_i}\right).$$

def  $\boldsymbol{w}$ : deformation tensor,  $(\det \boldsymbol{w})_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial w_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial w_j}{\partial x_i} \right)$ .

()<sub>0</sub>: an equation in which the forcing term does not appear; thus  $(4)_0$  means equation (4) with  $f \equiv 0$ .

In most of the material of this paper the parameter  $\nu$  is conveniently eliminated by a coordinate transformation, and I shall assume that this has been done. However, in the uniqueness theorem (5.10), an explicit criterion is given depending on the Reynold's number — or equivalently for fixed  $\Sigma$  — on  $\nu$ and  $w_0$ , and that result is therefore formulated in terms of these parameters.

As indicated above,  $\Sigma$  may consist of a finite number of smooth disjoint surfaces. However, in the interest of simplicity I shall carry out the demonstrations under the supposition that  $\Sigma$  is a single surface. The extension to the more general case requires only formal changes.

#### 2. The Linearized Equations

#### 2.1. Preliminary lemmas

Lemma 2.1. Let  $w^* \in \mathscr{C}^{2+\alpha}$  with respect to nonsingular local parameters on  $\Sigma$ , and suppose  $\oint_{\Sigma} w^* \cdot d\sigma = 0$ . Then there is a solenoidal field  $\zeta(x) \in \mathscr{C}^2$  in  $\mathscr{E}$  such that  $\zeta(x)$  vanishes outside a prescribed neighborhood of  $\Sigma$ , and  $\zeta(x) = w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ .

A proof of this result appears as Lemma 2.1 in [13].

**Lemma 2.2.** Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be the entire space, and let  $\varphi(x)$  be a vector valued function such that  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{C}^0(\mathscr{E})$ . Suppose  $\varphi(x)$  has first derivatives almost everywhere in  $\mathscr{E}$ , which are square integrable over  $\mathscr{E}$ . Then there is a vector  $\varphi_0$  such that

(7) 
$$\int_{\mathscr{S}} \frac{|\boldsymbol{\varphi}(y) - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_0|^2}{r_{xy}^2} dy \leq 4 \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(y)|^2 dy$$

for any choice of the point x.

The proof is based on a lemma of PAYNE & WEINBERGER [12], which states that if  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{C}^1(\mathscr{E})$ , and if  $\mathscr{E}_R$  is the exterior of a sphere  $\Sigma_R$  of radius R, then there is a constant vector  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_0$ , such that

(8) 
$$\frac{1}{R} \oint_{\Sigma_R} (\boldsymbol{\varphi} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_0)^2 d\sigma \leq \int_{\mathscr{G}_R} |\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}|^2 dy.$$

In proving (7) we may clearly assume that  $\int_{\mathcal{A}} |\nabla \varphi|^2 dy < \infty$ , for otherwise no proof would be needed. Also we may assume at first that  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{C}^1(\mathscr{C})$ . Consider the identity, for arbitrary  $u(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{1}(\mathscr{E})$ ,

(9) 
$$\int_{\mathscr{I}_R} u^2 \Delta \log r \, dy = \int_{\mathscr{I}_R} \frac{u^2}{r^2} \, dy = -2 \int_{\mathscr{I}_R} \frac{1}{r} \, u \cdot \nabla u \cdot \nabla r \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma_R} u^2 \frac{\partial \log r}{\partial n} \, d\sigma$$

where  $\mathscr{I}_R$  is the interior of a sphere  $\Sigma_R$  about the origin. From (9) follows immediately

$$\int_{\mathscr{F}_R} \frac{u^2}{r^2} dy \leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathscr{F}_R} \frac{u^2}{r^2} dy + 2 \int_{\mathscr{F}_R} |\nabla u|^2 dy + \frac{1}{R} \bigoplus_{\Sigma_R} u^2 d\sigma.$$

The stated result for  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{C}^1(\mathscr{E})$  is obtained by choosing  $\varphi_0$  from (8), setting  $u = \varphi - \varphi_0$ , choosing the origin of coordinates at x, and letting  $R \to \infty$ . The more general assertion of the lemma then follows by a standard approximation procedure.

**Corollary 2.2a.** Let  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{C}^0(\mathscr{E}_R)$  and have generalized first derivatives in the exterior  $\mathscr{E}_R$  of the sphere  $\Sigma_R$  about the origin. Then there is a vector  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_0$  such that, if either x=0 or else  $|x| \ge 2R$ ,

(10) 
$$\int_{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{R}}} \frac{|\boldsymbol{\varphi}(y) - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_0|^2}{r_{xy}^2} dy \leq K \int_{\mathscr{G}_{\mathcal{R}}} |\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(y)|^2 dy$$

where we may choose  $K=3+2\sqrt{2}<6$ .

**Proof.** In the case considered, the counterpart of (9) is

$$\int_{\mathscr{S}_R} \frac{u^2}{r_{xy}^2} dy = -2 \int_{\mathscr{S}_R} \frac{1}{r_{xy}} u \cdot \nabla u \cdot \nabla r_{xy} dy + \oint_{\Sigma_R} u^2 \frac{\partial \log r_{xy}}{\partial n} d\sigma$$
$$\leq \lambda \int_{\mathscr{S}_R} \frac{u^2}{r_{xy}^2} dy + \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\mathscr{S}_R} |\nabla u|^2 dy + \frac{1}{R} \oint_{\Sigma_R} u^2 d\sigma$$

for any  $\lambda > 0$ . The choice  $\lambda = \sqrt{2} - 1$  yields the stated result.

**Corollary 2.2b.** Let & and  $\varphi(x)$  be as in Lemma 2.2, and suppose  $\|\varphi\|_{s} < \infty$ . Then there is a vector  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_0$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\varphi} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_0 \in \mathcal{H}_0(\mathcal{E})$ .

**Proof.** Choose  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and choose R so that  $\| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{\mathscr{E}_R}^2 < \varepsilon$ . Define  $\boldsymbol{\psi}(x)$  by the conditions:

- i)  $\psi(x) = \varphi(x) \varphi_0$  if  $|x| \le K$ , ii)  $\psi(x) = \frac{2R r}{r} (\varphi(x) \varphi_0)$  if  $R \le |x| \le 2R$ , iii)  $\psi(x) = 0$  if  $|x| \ge 2R$ .
- iii)  $\Psi(x) = 0$

Evidently  $\psi(x) \in \mathscr{H}_0(\mathscr{E})$ . We have

$$\|\boldsymbol{\Psi}\|_{\mathscr{E}_{\boldsymbol{B}}}^{2} \leq 2 \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{\mathscr{E}_{\boldsymbol{B}}}^{2} + 8 \left(\left(\frac{\boldsymbol{\varphi}-\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\mathbf{0}}}{r}\right)\right)^{2}.$$

Hence by Corollary 2.2a,

$$\|\boldsymbol{\Psi}\|_{\mathscr{E}_{\boldsymbol{B}}}^{2} \leq 50 \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{\mathscr{E}_{\boldsymbol{B}}}^{2} \leq 50\varepsilon,$$

so that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\Psi} - (\boldsymbol{\varphi} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_0)\|_{\mathscr{E}_R}^2 \leq 2 \|\boldsymbol{\Psi}\|_{\mathscr{E}_R}^2 + 2 \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{\mathscr{E}_R}^2 \leq 102 \varepsilon.$$

Since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary, the result follows.

**Corollary 2.2c.** The conclusion of Lemma 2.2 holds with  $\varphi_0 = 0$ , for all  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{H}_0(\mathscr{E})$ .

The proof is immediate, since functions in  $\mathscr{H}_0(\mathscr{E})$  can be approximated in norm by continuous functions. Similarly, one has

**Corollary 2.2d.** The conclusion of Corollary 2.2a holds with  $\varphi_0 = 0$ , for all  $\varphi(x) \in \mathcal{H}_0(\mathcal{E})$ .

#### 2.2. Generalized solutions; the Dirichlet bound

Let  $w^*$  be prescribed data on  $\Sigma$ , subject to the restrictions of the preceding section. It will not, however, be assumed that  $\oint_{\Sigma} w^* \cdot d\sigma = 0$ . We may suppose the origin of coordinates to lie interior to  $\Sigma$  and set  $\gamma(x) = \gamma_0 \nabla \left(\frac{1}{r}\right)$  where  $\gamma_0$ is a real constant so chosen that  $\oint_{\Sigma} (w^* + \gamma) \cdot d\sigma = 0$  (note that  $\nabla \cdot \gamma = 0$ ). We may then apply Lemma 2.1 to obtain a solenoidal field  $\zeta(x)$  such that  $\zeta(x) = w^* + \gamma$  on  $\Sigma$  and  $\zeta(x)$  vanishes outside a neighborhood of  $\Sigma$ .

In terms of  $v(x) = u(x) - \zeta(x) + \gamma(x)$ , equations (4) take the form

(11) 
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{p} = -\boldsymbol{f} - \Delta \boldsymbol{\zeta} + \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} (\boldsymbol{\zeta} - \boldsymbol{\gamma}),$$
$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = 0$$

since  $\Delta \gamma = 0$ . A solution of (11) will be sought which satisfies homogeneous boundary conditions on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity.

**Definition 2.1.** A field v(x) over  $\mathscr{E}$  will be said to be a generalized solution of (11), and the corresponding  $u(x) = v(x) + \zeta(x) - \gamma(x)$  a generalized solution of (4), whenever i)  $v(x) \in \mathscr{H}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$ , and ii) the relation

(12) 
$$[\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{\varphi}] - \{\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{w}_0,\boldsymbol{\varphi}\} = (\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) - [\boldsymbol{\zeta},\boldsymbol{\varphi}] + \{\boldsymbol{\zeta}-\boldsymbol{\gamma},\boldsymbol{w}_0,\boldsymbol{\varphi}\}$$

holds for all  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$ .

Evidently, if u(x) is a generalized solution of (4) and if u(x) is smooth, then u(x) is a strict solution corresponding to a suitable pressure p(x), and  $u(x) \rightarrow w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . By Lemma 2.2,  $u(x) \rightarrow 0$  at infinity in the sense that  $\int_{\mathscr{S}} \frac{u^2(x)}{r^2} dx < \infty$ . It will be shown later that in fact  $u(x) = O\left(\frac{1}{r}\right)$  at infinity, and still more precise information will be obtained. Let  $\{\varphi^{(n)}(x)\}\$  be a complete set of functions in  $\mathscr{H}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$ . It may (and shall) be assumed that each  $\varphi^{(n)}(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{\sigma,0}(\mathscr{E})$ , that

$$[\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(n)}(x), \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(m)}(x)] = \delta_m^n,$$

and that the  $\{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(n)}(x)\}$  are complete in the uniform topology, that is, any  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{0}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$  can be uniformly approximated in  $\mathscr{E}$  by a linear combination of the  $\{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(n)}(x)\}$ .

**Definition 2.2.** A field v(x) over  $\mathscr{E}$  will be said to be an approximating solution of (12) of order N, and the corresponding field u(x) an approximating solution of (4) of order N, whenever i) v(x) can be expressed as a linear combination of the functions  $\varphi^{(1)}(x), \ldots, \varphi^{(N)}(x)$ , and ii) v(x) satisfies the generalized equation (12) for each of the functions  $\varphi^{(1)}(x), \ldots, \varphi^{(N)}(x)$ .

**Lemma 2.3.** For each integer N=1, 2, 3, ..., there exists a unique approximating solution v(x) of (12).

**Proof.** Writing

(14) 
$$\boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{1}^{N} \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(i)}(\boldsymbol{x})$$

and choosing  $\varphi = \varphi^{(k)}(x)$  in (12) leads, because of (13), to the linear system

(15) 
$$\sum_{1}^{N} \left( \delta_{k}^{i} \alpha_{k}^{i} \xi_{i} \right) = f_{k} - Z_{k} - \zeta_{k} + \gamma_{k}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{k}^{i} = \{ \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(i)}, \, \boldsymbol{w}_{0}, \, \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(k)} \} \,, \\ &f_{k} = (\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \,, \qquad \boldsymbol{Z}_{k} = [\boldsymbol{\zeta}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}] \,, \\ &\zeta_{k} = \{ \boldsymbol{\zeta}, \, \boldsymbol{w}_{0}, \, \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(k)} \} \,, \qquad \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{k} = \{ \boldsymbol{\gamma}, \, \boldsymbol{w}_{0}, \, \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(k)} \} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\alpha_k^i = -\alpha_i^k$ , we conclude easily that the determinant of the system (15) is positive, hence for any given  $\zeta(x)$ ,  $\gamma(x)$  there is a unique solution  $(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_N) = \xi$  of (15).

**Lemma 2.4.** Suppose  $|x| f(x) \in L_2(\mathscr{E})$ . Then there exists a constant K, not depending on N, such that for each approximating solution v(x) there holds  $||v|| = [v(x), v(x)]^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq K$ .

**Proof.** If v(x) is an approximating solution, we may choose  $\varphi(x) \equiv v(x)$  in (12), obtaining

$$\|v\|^{2} \leq ((rf))\left(\left(\frac{v}{r}\right)\right) + \|\zeta\| \|v\| + |w_{0}| \|\zeta\| \|v\| + |w_{0}| ((\gamma)) \|v\|$$

by Schwarz' inequality, since  $\{v, w_0, v\} = 0$ . The result then follows from Corollary 2.2c, since  $\zeta(x)$  has compact support and  $|\gamma| = |\gamma_0| r^{-2}$  is square integrable over  $\mathscr{E}$ .

**Corollary 2.4.** Under the above hypothesis there is a constant  $K_1$ , not depending on N, such that  $||\mathbf{u}|| \leq K_1$  for all approximating solutions  $\mathbf{u}(x)$ .

This result is now evident from the definition  $u(x) = v(x) + \zeta(x) - \gamma(x)$  and from Minkowski's inequality.

**Theorem 2.5.** Suppose  $|x| f(x) \in L_2(\mathcal{C})$ . Then there is a generalized solution u(x) of (4), corresponding to arbitrary prescribed data  $w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . The solution u(x) tends to zero at infinity in the sense that  $\int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{u^2}{r^2} dx < \infty$ .

Since  $\|\boldsymbol{v}\| < K$  for each N, the Rellich choice theorem [14] yields the existence of a subsequence of approximating solution of (12) which converges weakly in  $\mathscr{H}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$  and strongly in  $L_2$  on any compact subset of  $\mathscr{E} + \Sigma$ . Diagonalization yields a limit function in  $\mathscr{H}_{0,\sigma}(\mathscr{E})$  which satisfies (12). Since an approximating solution corresponding to the index N is an approximating solution for any index M < N, one sees that for the limit function, (12) holds for any of the  $\{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{(i)}(x)\}$ , hence for any  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x) \in \mathscr{C}_{0,\sigma}^{\infty}$ .

*Remark.* Note that it is not required that  $\oint_{\Sigma} w^* \cdot d\sigma = 0$ .

#### 2.3. Fundamental solutions; the local representation

A fundamental solution tensor E(x-y) for (4) has been determined explicitly in a particularly elegant form by OSEEN [6]. His construction yields the components  $E_{ij}(x-y)$  and associated "pressure vector"  $e = \{e_j(x-y)\}$  in the form

$$E_{ij} = \delta_{ij} \Delta \mathcal{O} - \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{O}}{\partial x_i \partial x_j},$$

$$e_j = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} (\Delta \mathcal{O} - w_0 \cdot \nabla \mathcal{O}),$$

$$\mathcal{O} = -\frac{1}{8\pi\sigma} \int_0^{\sigma s} \frac{1 - e^{-\alpha}}{\alpha} d\alpha,$$

$$\sigma = \frac{|w_0|}{2}, \quad s = |x - y| - \frac{w_0 \cdot (x - y)}{|w_0|}.$$

(16)

Corresponding to any (smooth) vector field w(x) and scalar p(x) we may define the stress tensor Tw by the relation

$$(T w)_{ij} = - p \delta_{ij} + \left(\frac{\partial w_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial w_j}{\partial x_i}\right).$$

If u(x) is a solution of (4) in a closed region  $\mathscr{G}$  with boundary  $\Sigma$ , there holds the representation

(17) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathscr{G}} \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{f} \, d\boldsymbol{y} + \oint_{\Sigma} \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \cdot T \boldsymbol{E} \cdot - \boldsymbol{E} \cdot T \boldsymbol{u} \cdot + \left( \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \right) \boldsymbol{w}_{0} \cdot \right\} d\boldsymbol{\sigma}$$

where  $d\sigma$  is understood as a directed surface element on  $\Sigma$ , and TE is formed by interpreting the components  $\{e_i\}$  as pressures. Similarly,

(18) 
$$p(x) = \int_{\mathscr{G}} \mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{f} \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma} \{ \mathbf{u} \cdot T \mathbf{e} - \mathbf{e} \cdot T \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{e} \cdot \mathbf{u}) \, \mathbf{w}_0 \cdot \} \, d\mathbf{\sigma}$$

where the "pressure" in the term Te is defined to be  $e^* = w_0 \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{1}{|x-y|}\right)$ .

We shall need also a truncated fundamental tensor (FUJITA [5], p. 96). Let  $\eta(t)$  be a function of class  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(t)$ , such that

$$\eta(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ 0, & 2 \le t, \end{cases}$$

and define  $\eta^{\gamma}(t) = \eta(t\gamma^{-1})$ . Let  $\mathcal{O}^{\gamma}(x-y) = \eta^{\gamma}\mathcal{O}(x-y)$ . The truncated tensor  $E^{\gamma} = \{E_{ij}^{\gamma}\}$  is then defined by the relations (16) simply by inserting  $\mathcal{O}^{\gamma}$  in place of  $\mathcal{O}$  in these relations. The utility of this tensor consists in the fact that it leads to a representation for the solutions of (4), in which boundary integrals do not appear. In fact, one has, for any solution u(x),

(19) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(x) = \int \boldsymbol{E}^{\gamma} \cdot \boldsymbol{f} \, dy + \int \boldsymbol{H}^{\gamma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \, dy$$

the integrations being extended over all space. Here the tensor  $H^{\gamma}(x-y)$ , defined by

$$H_{ij}^{\gamma}(x) = \begin{cases} -\delta_{ij} \Delta (\Delta - \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}) \ \mathcal{O}^{\gamma}(x), & \text{if } x \neq 0, \\ 0, & \text{if } x = 0 \end{cases}$$

is of class  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  in all space and vanishes (as does  $E^{\gamma}(x)$ ) if  $|x| \ge 2\gamma$ .

It will be necessary to have a representation of the form (19) for the generalized solutions constructed in the preceding section. This will be done first with the somewhat simpler tensors  $E_0^{\nu}$ ,  $H_0^{\nu}$  arising in the case  $w_0=0$ . The ensuing discussion follows FUJITA [5].

For any tensor A(x, y) and vector  $\psi(x)$ , set

$$A\psi \equiv \int A(x, y) \cdot \psi(y) \, dy, \qquad A^*\psi \equiv \int A(y, x) \cdot \psi(y) \, dy.$$

Then, if  $\psi(x)$  is smooth, one has  $E_0\psi \equiv E_0^*\psi$ , and

(20) 
$$\begin{aligned} \Delta E_0 \psi - \nabla e_0 \psi = \psi, & \nabla \cdot E_0 \psi = 0, \\ \Delta E_0^{\nu} \psi - \nabla e_0^{\nu} \psi = \psi - H_0^{\nu} \psi, & \nabla \cdot E_0^{\nu} \psi = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Let  $V^{\gamma}$  denote the sphere  $|x| \leq 2\gamma$ , and let  $\Psi(x) \in \mathscr{C}_{0}^{\infty}(V^{\gamma})$ . Let  $\varphi(x) = E_{0}^{\gamma}\Psi$ ,  $\pi = e_{0}^{\gamma}\Psi$ . Then  $\varphi(x) \in \mathscr{C}_{0,\sigma}^{\infty}(\mathscr{E})$ , and  $\Delta \varphi - \nabla \pi = \Psi - H_{0}^{\gamma}\Psi$ . Inserting  $\varphi(x)$  as a test function in the generalized equation (12), which we may write in the form

(21) 
$$[\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{\varphi}] - \{\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{w}_0,\boldsymbol{\varphi}\} = (\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{\varphi}),$$

leads to

$$(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\psi} - \boldsymbol{H}_0^{\gamma} \boldsymbol{\psi}) + \{ \boldsymbol{E}_0^{\gamma} \boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{w}_0, \boldsymbol{u} \} = (\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{E}_0^{\gamma} \boldsymbol{\psi}),$$

and an interchange of order of integration yields

$$(\mathbf{\psi}, \mathbf{u} - \mathbf{H}_0^{\gamma} \mathbf{u}) + (\mathbf{\psi}, \mathbf{E}_0^{\gamma} \mathbf{w}_0 \cdot \mathbf{\nabla} \mathbf{u}) = (\mathbf{\psi}, \mathbf{E}_0^{\gamma} \mathbf{f}).$$

Since  $\mathbf{\Psi}$  is arbitrary in  $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbf{0}}^{\infty}(V^{\gamma})$ , there must hold

(22) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(x) = \int \boldsymbol{E}_0^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \cdot (\boldsymbol{f} - \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{u}) \, d\boldsymbol{y} + \int \boldsymbol{H}_0^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \, d\boldsymbol{y}$$

for almost every x whose distance from  $\Sigma$  exceeds  $2\gamma$ , whenever u(x) is a generalized solution of (4).

#### 2.4. Local Regularity of Generalized Solutions

From (22) follows immediately the interior regularity of the generalized solution u(x), the smoothness of the solution depending only on the smoothness of f(x).

**Theorem 2.6.** Let  $f(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{r+\alpha}(\mathscr{E}), r \ge 0$ . Then any generalized solution  $u(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{r+2+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$ , and  $p(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{r+1+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$ . The system (4) is satisfied strictly throughout  $\mathscr{E}$ . If also  $f(x) \to 0$  as  $x \to \infty$ , then so does u(x) together with its derivatives of order up to r+2.

**Proof.** The order of singularity of  $E_0^{\gamma}$  at x=y can be calculated from the explicit formula, valid for  $|x-y| \leq \gamma$ ,

$$E_0^{\gamma}(x-y) \equiv E_0(x-y) = \left\{ \frac{\delta_{ij}}{r} - \frac{(x_i - y_i)(x_j - y_j)}{r^3} \right\}.$$

Schwarz' inequality and Corollary 2.2c, applied to (22), yield immediately a bound on |u(x)|, uniform at all points of distance exceeding  $2\gamma$  from  $\Sigma$ . Writing (22) in the form

(23) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(x) = \int \boldsymbol{E}_0^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \cdot \boldsymbol{f} \, dy + \int \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{E}_0^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \, dy + \int \boldsymbol{H}_0^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \, dy,$$

and using the bound on |u(x)|, one finds that  $u(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{0+\beta}(\mathscr{E})$  for any  $\beta < 1$ . Placing this result again into (23) permits successive improvement of the estimate, until the (prescribed) smoothness of f(x) has been fully exploited. The result is the assertion of Theorem 2.6 with regard to u(x). The corresponding property of p(x) can then be obtained directly from the strict equation (4). The fact that  $u(x) \rightarrow 0$  at infinity is obtained by applying (19) for large |x| and using Corollary 2.2d. The vanishing of the derivatives of u(x) at infinity then follows by repeated use of (19), as above.

We have also the following general result:

**Corollary 2.6.** Let  $f(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{r+\alpha}$ , and let  $H_f$  denote a Hölder constant for the  $r^{\text{th}}$  derivatives of f(x), with exponent  $\alpha$ . Suppose u(x) satisfies the generalized equation

$$[\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{\Phi}] - \{\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{w}_0,\boldsymbol{\Phi}\} = (\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{\Phi})$$

in a sphere  $V^{\gamma} \in \mathscr{E}$  of radius  $\gamma$ , for all test functions  $\Phi(x) \in \mathscr{C}_{0,\sigma}^{\infty}(V^{\gamma})$ . Suppose u(x) can be extended to a field in  $\mathscr{H}_{\sigma}(V^{\gamma}) \cap \mathscr{H}_{0}(\mathscr{E})$ , with  $||u|| \leq M$ . Then there is a constant C, depending only on  $w_{0}$ , on  $\gamma$ , and on q, such that at the center of  $V^{\gamma}$  there holds for all  $q^{\text{th}}$  derivatives  $D_{q}u$ ,  $0 \leq q \leq r+2$ ,

(24) 
$$|D_{q}\boldsymbol{u}| \leq C \left(M + H_{f} + \max_{\boldsymbol{v}\boldsymbol{\gamma}} |\boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x})|\right).$$

The proof follows by adjoining Corollary 2.2c to the above discussion.

**Theorem 2.7.** Suppose  $\Sigma$  is of class  $\mathscr{C}^{2+\alpha}$  and  $w^*$  of class  $\mathscr{C}^{1+\alpha}$  on  $\Sigma$ , and suppose f is bounded near  $\Sigma$ . Then  $\nabla u(x)$ ,  $p(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{0+\alpha}$  in a closed (outer) neighborhood of  $\Sigma$ , and  $u(x) \rightarrow w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ .

#### **ROBERT FINN:**

The proof can be obtained from the ODQVIST estimates [15] for the Green's tensor for (6) in an annular region bounded by  $\Sigma$  and by a sphere  $\Sigma_0$  containing  $\Sigma$ . The reasoning follows the lines of classical potential theory, and I shall omit details (cf. [2, 5, 16]).

#### 2.5. Representation in the Large

Let u(x) be a generalized solution of (4) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , in the sense of Definition 2.1, and suppose  $f(x) \in \mathscr{C}^{0+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$ . By Theorem 2.6, u(x) is a strict solution in  $\mathscr{E}$ , and we may apply the representation (17) to u(x) in the annular region  $\mathscr{E}_R$  bounded by  $\Sigma$  and by a sphere  $\Sigma_R$  of large radius R, obtaining

(25) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathscr{C}_R} \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{f} \, d\boldsymbol{y} + \oint_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma} + \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_R} \{ \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{T} \boldsymbol{E} \cdot - \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{T} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot + (\boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}) \, \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \} \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma}$$

for  $x \in \mathscr{E}_R$ .

Let us assume that f(x) has one of the following properties: either i)  $f(x) \equiv g(x) \cdot \nabla g(x)$ , with  $g(x) \in \mathscr{H}_0(\mathscr{E} + \Sigma)$ , or ii)  $|x|^\beta f(x) \in L_2(\mathscr{E})$ , for some  $\beta > \frac{1}{2}$ . Then formal estimation of the volume integral in (25) shows that it can be extended to an integral over all of  $\mathscr{E}$  which converges absolutely and approaches zero as  $x \to \infty$ . The former property implies that for each fixed x the outer surface integral tends to a finite limit as  $R \to \infty$ . Thus,

(26) 
$$\mathbf{F}(x) = \lim_{R \to \infty} \oint_{\Sigma_R} \{ \mathbf{u} \cdot T \mathbf{E} \cdot - \mathbf{E} \cdot T \mathbf{u} \cdot + (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{u}) \mathbf{w}_0 \cdot \} d\mathbf{\sigma}$$

exists and is finite for each x.

In the integrand of (26), all terms involving u(x) and its derivatives vanish at infinity, by Theorem 2.6. The same theorem shows that  $\nabla p \to 0$ , since (4) equates  $\nabla p$  to a sum of terms which tend to zero. Hence p(x) = o(r) as  $x \to \infty$ . On the other hand, the defining relations (16) imply that the successive derivatives of E(x) and of e(x) in arbitrary directions, if of sufficiently high order, will tend to zero more rapidly than any prescribed negative power of r. It is not obvious that (26) can be differentiated under the sign, but it is possible to interchange the limit operation with the formation of difference quotients, which decay asymptotically with the same order as the corresponding derivatives. Thus, letting  $\delta^{(N)} F(x)$  denote the result of taking N successive differences in arbitrary directions, there will hold

$$\delta^{(N)} \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{\Sigma_R} \left\{ \mathbf{u} \cdot T \, \delta^{(N)} \mathbf{E} \cdot - \delta^{(N)} \mathbf{E} \cdot T \, \mathbf{u} + (\delta^{(N)} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{u}) \, \mathbf{w}_0 \cdot \right\} d\boldsymbol{\sigma}$$
  
= 0

identically in x whenever N is sufficiently large. It follows that F(x) is a polynomial in the components of x,  $F(x) \equiv P_N(x)$  where  $P_N(x)$  has degree at most N-1. Hence (25) implies

$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{u}_{\boldsymbol{f}}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \boldsymbol{u}_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \boldsymbol{P}_{N}(\boldsymbol{x})$$

where  $u_f(x)$  and  $u_{\Sigma}(x) \to 0$  as  $x \to \infty$ . But by Theorem 2.6,  $u(x) \to 0$ , hence  $P_N(x) \to 0$ , and we conclude  $F(x) \equiv P_N(x) \equiv 0$  in x.

The above reasoning can be repeated with little change when there is an inhomogeneous term of the form  $f(x) = h(x) \cdot \nabla h(x)$ , for which it is only known that  $\nabla \cdot h(x) \equiv 0$ , that the integral

(27) 
$$I(x) = \int_{\mathscr{S}} \boldsymbol{h}(y) \cdot \boldsymbol{h}(y) \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x-y) \, dy$$

converges absolutely, and that  $I(x) \rightarrow 0$  as  $x \rightarrow \infty$ . For then

(28) 
$$\int_{\mathscr{S}_{\mathcal{R}}} \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{h} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{h} \, dy = -\int_{\mathscr{S}_{\mathcal{R}}} \boldsymbol{h} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{E} \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma + \Sigma_{\mathcal{R}}} (\boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{h}) \, \boldsymbol{h} \, d\sigma,$$

and the reasoning can be repeated with the additional term  $\lim_{R\to\infty} \oint_{\Sigma_R} (E \cdot h) h \, d\sigma$ added to F(x). In order that  $I(x) \to 0$ , it suffices to have  $|h(x)| = o(r^{-\frac{3}{2}})$  as  $x \to \infty$ , although weaker conditions would do.

A similar discussion can be given for the pressure p(x), starting with the representation (18).

Summarizing, we have the following result:

Theorem 2.8. Suppose  $f(x) = f_1(x) + f_2(x) + f_3(x)$ , where  $f_1(x), f_2(x), f_3(x) \in C^{0+\alpha}(\mathscr{E})$ , and suppose  $f_1(x) \equiv g(x) \cdot \nabla g(x)$  with  $g(x) \in \mathscr{H}_0(\mathscr{E} + \Sigma)$ , while  $|x|^\beta f_2(x) \in L_2(\mathscr{E})$  for some  $\beta > \frac{1}{2}$ , and  $f_3(x) \equiv h(x) \cdot \nabla h(x)$ , where h(x) is as above (e.g.,  $\nabla \cdot h \equiv 0$  and  $|h(x)| = o(r^{-\frac{1}{2}})$  at infinity). Let u(x) be a generalized solution of (4) in  $\mathscr{E}$  in the sense of Definition 2.1, and suppose that  $\nabla u(x)$ , p(x) are continuous up to  $\Sigma$ . Then

(28)  
$$u(x) = \int_{\sigma} E(x-y) \cdot f(y) \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma} \{u \cdot TE - E \cdot Tu + (E \cdot u) \, w_0\} \, d\sigma,$$
$$p(x) = p_0 + \int_{\sigma} e(x-y) \cdot f(y) \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma} \{u \cdot Te - e \cdot Tu + (e \cdot u) \, w_0\} \, d\sigma$$

in  $\mathcal{E}$ , where  $p_0$  is an arbitrary constant.

An unpleasant but formal computation, starting with the definition (16), yields the following estimates for the upper bounds of all components of E,  $\nabla E$ , when |x| = r is large:<sup>1</sup>

(29)  
$$|\mathbf{E}| < C \frac{1}{r} \frac{1 - e^{-\sigma s}}{\sigma s},$$
$$|\nabla \mathbf{E}| < C \left[ \frac{\sigma^{\frac{1}{2}}}{r^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{1 - e^{-\sigma s} - \sigma s e^{-\sigma s}}{(\sigma s)^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{1 - e^{-\sigma s}}{\sigma s} \right]$$

for some constant C. Similar estimates hold for the higher derivatives of E(x). Also,

(30) 
$$e(x) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \nabla \left(\frac{1}{r}\right).$$

In terms of these estimates, the mean value theorem applied to (28) yields:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In [7, p. 392] and in [13, p. 204], the second term in the estimate of  $|\nabla E|$  is omitted, apparently due to an error in copying. This omission does not affect the content of those papers.

**Corollary 2.8.** Suppose f(x) has compact support in  $\mathscr{E} + \Sigma$ . Then the behavior of the generalized solution u(x), p(x) at infinity is controlled by that of the fundamental tensor E(x), e(x), in the sense

(31)  
$$u(x) = \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{E}(x) + b \mathbf{e}(x) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}(x)$$
$$p(x) = p_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{e}(x) + \boldsymbol{\tau}(x)$$

for constant vectors  $\mathbf{a}, \boldsymbol{\beta}$  and scalar b. Here  $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}(x)|$  may be chosen in the form of the right side of (29), while  $|\tau(x)| < Cr^{-3}$ . Both expressions (31) may be differentiated any number of times, with corresponding improved rate of decay of  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(x), \tau(x)$ .

A particular consequence of (31) is that the solution u(x) admits a paraboloidal "wake region" in the direction of  $w_0$ , interior to which  $|u(x)| < Cr^{-1}$ . Exterior to this region, the decay of u(x) is progressively more rapid until, exterior to any circular cone with axis in direction  $w_0$ , one has  $|u(x)| < Cr^{-2}$ . This behavior will be discussed in further detail in § 5.

Note that (31) completely characterizes the qualitative asymptotic structure of any generalized solution; the method of construction of these solutions yielded no information *a priori* beyond the fact that  $u(x) \in \mathcal{H}_0(\mathcal{E})$ .

#### 2.6. The Green's Tensor

Theorem 2.6 has as particular consequence the existence in  $\mathscr{E}$  of a tensor  $A_{ij}(x, y)$ , whose row and column vectors satisfy as function of y the adjoint system

(32) 
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{u} + \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{p} = \boldsymbol{0},$$
$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{0}$$

and which has the properties i) if  $y \in \Sigma$ , then  $A_{ij}(x, y) = -E_{ij}(x, y)$ , ii)  $A_{ij}(x, y) \to 0$ as  $y \to \infty$ , any fixed  $x \in \mathscr{E}$ . Thus, there exists a Green's tensor

$$\mathbf{G}(x, y) = \mathbf{E}(x, y) + \mathbf{A}(x, y)$$

for the system (4), whose components vanish, as functions of y, on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity.

The qualitative behavior of G(x, y) as  $y \to \infty$  is known from Corollary 2.8. Let  $G^*(x, y)$  be the Green's tensor for the adjoint system (32), so that its row and column vectors satisfy the original system (4)<sub>0</sub>. The representation formula (17), together with Corollary 2.8, yields the symmetry property

$$(33) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{G}_{ij}(x, y) = \mathsf{G}_{ij}^*(y, x).$$

From (33) we conclude:

- i) the row and column vectors of G(x, y) satisfy  $(4)_0$  as functions of x;
- ii)  $\lim_{x\to \Sigma} G(x, y) = 0$ , uniformly for all  $y \in \mathscr{E}$  which exceed a fixed distance from  $\Sigma$ .

The following lemmas characterize quantitatively the asymptotic behavior of G(x, y) at infinity, and its local behavior near  $\Sigma$ .

**Lemma 2.9.** Let |x| = R be fixed. There exists an  $R_0$  and a constant  $C(R_0)$  such that, for all (fixed)  $R > R_0$ ,  $||A|| < CR^{-1}$ . The estimate is uniform in  $w_0$ , in any finite interval of this parameter.

It suffices to choose  $R_0$  so that all points of  $\Sigma$  lie interior to a sphere of radius  $R_0$ .

**Proof.** Because of the estimates (29), there is a constant *C* for which  $|\mathbf{E}| < CR^{-1}, |\nabla \mathbf{E}| < CR^{-1}$  on  $\Sigma$ . It is evident from the definition that a similar estimate holds for the derivatives of  $\mathbf{E}(x, y)$  of arbitrary order on  $\Sigma$ . By Lemma 2.1, there is a solenoidal field  $\mathbf{Z}(x; y)$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ , having compact support in a prescribed neighborhood  $\mathscr{E}_{\delta}$  of  $\Sigma$ , such that  $\mathbf{Z}(x; y) = \mathbf{E}(x, y)$  if  $y \in \Sigma$ , and such that  $|\mathbf{Z}(x; y)| < CR^{-1}$ ,  $|\nabla \mathbf{Z}(x; y)| < CR^{-1}$  throughout  $\mathscr{E}_{\delta}$ . (One verifies easily that  $\oint \mathbf{E} d\sigma = 0$ , thus assuring the existence of  $\mathbf{Z}(x; y)$ .)

In terms of  $\Xi = A - Z$ , equation (32) becomes

$$\varDelta \Xi + w_0 \cdot \nabla \Xi - \nabla \alpha = -\varDelta Z - w_0 \cdot \nabla Z$$

where  $\alpha$  is the "pressure" term associated with A(x, y). Multiply by  $\Xi$ , integrate over an annular region  $\mathscr{E}_R$  of outer radius R, and let  $R \to \infty$ , obtaining

$$\|\mathbf{\Xi}\|^2 = - [\mathbf{\Xi}, \mathbf{Z}] + \{\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{w}_0, \mathbf{\Xi}\}$$

the outer surface integral vanishing in the limit by Corollary 2.8. Hence

$$\|\mathbf{\Xi}\|^{2} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|\mathbf{\Xi}\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\mathbf{Z}\|^{2} + \frac{|\mathbf{w}_{0}|}{2\lambda} \left( (\mathbf{Z}) \right) + \frac{\lambda}{2} |\mathbf{w}_{0}| \|\mathbf{\Xi}\|^{2}$$

for any positive  $\lambda$ . The result now follows, after suitable choice of  $\lambda$ , by Min-kowski's inequality.

**Lemma 2.10.** Let  $\Sigma_0: |x| = R_0$  be an arbitrary but fixed spherical surface surrounding  $\Sigma$ . Then at all points  $y \in \Sigma_0$  there holds, if  $|x| = R > 2R_0$ ,  $|A(x, y)| < CR^{-1}$ ,  $|\nabla A(x, y)| < CR^{-1}$ . The estimates are uniform on any finite interval of the parameter  $w_0$ .

The proof is obtained immediately from Lemma 2.9 and Corollary 2.6.

**Lemma 2.11.** Let  $\Sigma_0$  be as above. Then for y outside  $\Sigma_0$  and  $|x| = R \ge 2R_0$ , there holds, uniformly in any finite interval of the parameter  $w_0$ ,

(34) 
$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{A}(x, y)| &< C R^{-1} | \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{E}(-y) + b \mathbf{e}(-y) + \mathbf{\sigma}(-y) |, \\ |\mathbf{\alpha}(x, y)| &< C R^{-1} | \mathbf{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{e}(-y) + \tau(-y) | \end{aligned}$$

after normalization of  $\alpha(x, y)$  by a suitable additive constant. Here  $\sigma(y)$ ,  $\tau(y)$ ,  $\alpha$ , b,  $\beta$  have the same meaning as in Corollary 2.8. These inequalities may be differentiated formally with respect to y on both sides.

**Proof.** For fixed x exterior to  $\Sigma_0$ , we may apply Theorem 2.8 to obtain, after normalizing  $\alpha(x, y)$ ,

$$A(x, y) = \oint_{\Sigma_0} \{ A \cdot T E^* - E^* \cdot T A + (E^* \cdot A) w_0 \} d\sigma,$$
  
$$\alpha(x, y) = \oint_{\Sigma_0} \{ \alpha \cdot T e^* - e^* \cdot T \alpha + (e^* \cdot u) w_0 \} d\sigma$$

where  $E^*$ ,  $e^*$  are the fundamental tensor and pressure for the adjoint system (32), whenever y is exterior to  $\Sigma_0$ . The stated result then follows by using the

symmetry property  $E^*(x-y) = E(y-x)$ , placing the estimates of Lemma 2.10 — and the corresponding estimates for the higher derivatives of E — into the integrand and repeating the reasoning that led to Corollary 2.8.

**Lemma 2.12.** Let  $\Sigma_0$  be as above. In any closed neighborhood  $\mathcal{N}_y$  of  $\Sigma$  which does not contain  $\Sigma_0$  there holds, uniformly for  $w_0$  in any finite interval,

$$|\mathbf{A}(x, y)| < C R^{-1}, \qquad |\nabla \mathbf{A}(x, y)| < C R^{-1}, |\mathbf{\alpha}(x, y)| < C R^{-1}$$

whenever  $|x| = R > 2R_0$ .

**Proof.** In the annular region bounded by  $\Sigma$  and by  $\Sigma_0$ , A(x, y),  $\alpha(x, y)$  can be represented, as functions of y, by the Green's tensor for the system (32). The result then follows from Lemma 2.9, Lemma 2.10, and from the estimates of ODQVIST on the Green's tensor for (32) in a finite region. The procedure is identical to the method of proof of Theorem 2.7, and details can be found in the reference cited there.

#### 3. The Underlying Estimate

The existence theorem for physically reasonable solutions of (2) will be made to depend on the following estimate for the Green's tensor  $G(x, y; w_0)$  of  $(4)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ :

**Theorem 3.1.** There is a constant H, uniform in any finite interval of  $w_0$ , such that

(35) 
$$|x| \int_{\mathcal{A}} |y|^{-2} |\nabla_{y} G(x, y; w_{0})| dy < H$$

for all  $x \in \mathscr{E}$ .

Several auxiliary lemmas will be needed to prove this result.

**Lemma 3.2.** Let x be interior to a sphere  $\Sigma_R$  of radius R, and suppose the distance from x to  $\Sigma_R$  exceeds R/2. There exists a constant C, not depending on R or on  $w_0$ , such that

(36) 
$$\oint_{\Sigma_R} |\nabla E(x-y; \boldsymbol{w}_0)| \, d\sigma < C$$

**Proof.** If  $w_0 = 0$ , then  $|\nabla E| < C|x-y|^{-2}$ , from which the lemma follows immediately. Otherwise, the dependence on this parameter can be eliminated by observing that  $E(x; \lambda w_0) \equiv \lambda E(\lambda x; w_0)$ . Thus, setting  $\xi = \lambda x$ ,  $\eta = \lambda y$ , one has

$$\oint_{\Sigma_R} |\nabla E(x-y); \lambda w_0| \, d\sigma = \oint_{\Sigma_{\lambda R}} |\nabla E(\xi-\eta; w_0)| \, d\sigma.$$

It follows that if the lemma is established for a single value  $w_0 \neq 0$  and arbitrary R, it holds also for all other values  $w_0 \neq 0$ . But for given  $w_0$ , an estimate (36) is obtained for large R by an easy calculation, using the estimates (29). For small R, (36) is a consequence of the local estimate  $|\nabla E| < C|x-y|^2$ , as  $|x-y| \to 0$ .

Lemma 3.3. There is a constant H such that

 $|x| \int_{\mathscr{S}} |y|^{-2} |\nabla_{y} A(x, y; w_{0})| dy < \frac{1}{2} H$ 

uniformly in any finite interval of  $w_0$ , for all sufficiently large |x|.

This result follows from Lemmas 2.11, 2.12, and 3.2. As a consequence, the proof of (35) in the case of large |x| is reduced to the study of the corresponding expression, in which G is replaced by the fundamental tensor  $E(x-y; w_0)$ .

**Lemma 3.4.** Let |x| = R and suppose x lies exterior to a sphere  $\Sigma_r$  about the origin and of radius  $r \leq \frac{1}{2}R$ . Let  $w_0$  be arbitrary but fixed, with  $w_0 \neq 0$ . There is a constant C, depending on  $w_0$  but not on R, such that for all R > 1 there holds

(37) 
$$\oint_{\Sigma_r} |\nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x-y;\boldsymbol{w}_0)| \, d\sigma_y < C \, r^2 \, R^{-\frac{5}{2}}.$$

**Proof.** The estimate (29) yields in particular  $|\nabla E(x; w_0)| < CR^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  if R > 1, and from this the result follows.

**Lemma 3.5.** Under the above assumptions, suppose  $R^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq 2r \leq R$ . There is a constant C, depending on  $w_0$  but not on R, such that for all R > 1 there holds

(38) 
$$\oint_{\Sigma_r} |\nabla \boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{y};\boldsymbol{w}_0)| \, d\sigma_{\boldsymbol{y}} < C \, r^{\frac{6}{7}} R^{-\frac{6}{7}}.$$

**Proof.** Consider the contribution to the integral of that part of  $\Sigma_r$ , which lies in a cylinder Z of radius  $r^{\frac{3}{7}}R^{\frac{3}{7}}$ , whose axis contains x and has the direction  $\pm w_0$ . Replacing  $|\nabla E|$  by the estimate (29), and the quantity |x-y| in (38) by its minimum, R-r, one sees that this contribution will be maximized when Z subtends the maximum possible area on  $\Sigma_r$ . This situation in turn will occur when Z lies interior to a parallel cylinder  $Z_0$  of radius  $2r^{\frac{3}{7}}R^{\frac{3}{7}}$ , whose axis is tangent to  $\Sigma_r$ . The area  $\mathscr{A}_0$  of that part of  $\Sigma_r$  which lies interior to  $Z_0$  is easily estimated and has the order of magnitude  $r^{\frac{3}{7}}R^{\frac{3}{7}}$ .

It does not suffice to multiply by  $\mathscr{A}_0$  the maximum of  $|\nabla E|$  on  $\Sigma_r$  in  $Z_0$ , as the resulting estimate would be too weak. It is necessary to split the integration into two parts, as follows:

i) a concentric subcylinder  $Z'_0$  in  $Z_0$ , of radius  $r^{\frac{1}{2}} R^{\frac{3}{2}}$  (smaller than  $2r^{\frac{3}{2}} R^{\frac{3}{2}}$ , since  $2r > R^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ). The area subtended by  $Z'_0$  is of order  $r^{\frac{5}{2}} R^{\frac{3}{2}}$ . In  $Z'_0$ , replace  $|\nabla E|$  by the uniform estimate of order  $R^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ , obtaining as a bound for the net contribution of the integral over this part of  $\Sigma$ , an order of magnitude

$$r^{\frac{5}{7}}R^{-\frac{6}{7}};$$

ii) the remainder of  $Z_0$ . The integral here can be estimated by multiplying the full area of  $\Sigma_r$  in  $Z_0$ , of order  $r^{\frac{8}{7}} R^{\frac{9}{7}}$ , by the maximum of the estimate (29) for  $|\nabla E|$  outside  $Z'_0$  on  $\Sigma_r$ . We obtain an order

$$r^{\frac{8}{7}}R^{\frac{8}{7}} \cdot r^{-\frac{8}{7}}R^{-\frac{8}{7}} = r^{\frac{5}{7}}R^{-\frac{6}{7}}.$$

Finally, we estimate the contribution from the part of  $\Sigma_r$  exterior to  $Z_0$ . To do so, it suffices to multiply the area of the full sphere  $\Sigma_r$  by the maximum of the estimate (29) for  $|\nabla E|$  outside  $Z_0$ . We find an order,

$$r^2 \cdot r^{-\frac{9}{7}} R^{-\frac{6}{7}} = r^{\frac{6}{7}} R^{-\frac{6}{7}}.$$

Thus, all three estimates have the same order and yield the stated result.

**Lemma 3.6.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1, there is a constant H, not depending on  $w_0$ , such that

(39) 
$$|x| \int |y|^{-2} |\nabla_{y} E(x-y; w_{0})| dy < \frac{1}{2}H$$

the integration being extended over all space.

If  $w_0=0$ , the uniform estimate  $|V_y E(x-y; 0)| < C|x-y|^{-2}$  reduces the lemma to a classical potential theoretic result. If  $w_0 \neq 0$ , the relation  $E(x; \lambda w_0) = \lambda E(\lambda x; w_0)$  shows that the left side of (39) is independent of  $w_0$ , and it therefore suffices to prove the result for any particular  $w_0 \neq 0$ . To do so, write |x|=R and split the region of integration into three parts, as follows:

I. The exterior of a sphere  $\Sigma_{2R}$  about the origin. The desired estimate follows from Lemma 3.2.

II. The annular region between  $\Sigma_{R/2}$  and  $\Sigma_{2R}$ . In this region, R < 2|y| < 4R, hence Lemma 3.2 can again be applied to obtain the correct estimate.

III. The interior of  $\Sigma_{R/2}$ . If  $R \leq 1$ , we have the uniform estimate  $|\nabla E(x; w_0)| < C|x|^{-2}$  for small |x|, and the desired estimate is immediate. If R > 1, we split this integral again into two parts:

III a. The interior of a concentric sphere of radius  $\frac{1}{2}R^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . The uniform estimate  $|\nabla E| < CR^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  over this sphere leads to an evaluation of the form

$$CR \cdot R^{-\frac{n}{2}} \cdot \int_{0}^{R^{\frac{1}{2}}} dr = C$$

for the integral in question.

IIIb. The remaining part Q of the interior of  $\Sigma_{R/2}$ . By Lemma 3.5, if  $R^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq 2r \leq R$ , then  $\oint_{\Sigma_r} |\nabla E(x-y; w_0)| d\sigma < Cr^{\frac{5}{2}}R^{-\frac{6}{2}}$ . Denote this integral by  $\mathscr{I}_r$ . Then

$$R \int_{Q} |y|^{-2} |V_{y} E(x - y; w_{0}) dy = R \int_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}R^{\frac{1}{2}}} \int_{r}^{r-2} \mathcal{I}_{r} dr < C$$

$$< C R^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}R} r^{-\frac{n}{2}} dr < C$$

which completes the proof of the lemma.

**Lemma 3.7.** Suppose  $\Sigma$  lies interior to a sphere  $\Sigma_{R_0}$ , and let  $\mathcal{A}_0$  be the annular region between the two surfaces. Let y lie on the concentric surface  $\Sigma_{2R_0}$ . Then on any finite interval of values  $w_0$ ,  $|G(x, y; w_0)|$  is bounded, uniformly in  $w_0$  and for all  $x \in \mathcal{A}_0$ . The same assertion holds for all derivatives of  $G(x, y; w_0)$ , and all bounds tend to zero uniformly as  $x \to \Sigma$ .

This assertion follows from the definition of  $G(x, y; w_0)$ , from the symmetry property (33), from Lemma 2.9, and from Corollary 2.6.

Applying Corollary 2.8 to the function  $u(y) = G(x, y; w_0)$  exterior to  $\Sigma_{2R_0}$ , we find

**Lemma 3.8.** Under the hypotheses of the preceding lemma, if  $x \in \mathscr{A}_0$  and if y is exterior to  $\Sigma_{3R_0}$ , then

 $|\nabla G(x, y; w_0)| < A(|\nabla E(-y)| + |\nabla e(-y)| + \text{lower order terms})$ 

where  $A \rightarrow 0$  as  $x \rightarrow \Sigma$ .

Finally, estimates on  $G(x, y; w_0)$  will be needed in the case that both  $x, y \in \mathscr{A}_0$ . These estimates will be obtained by comparing  $G(x, y; w_0)$  with the simpler tensor  $G_0(x, y)$  corresponding to the Stokes system (6), in the (finite) region  $\mathscr{B}_0$  bounded by  $\Sigma$  and by  $\Sigma_{2R_0}$ .

Let  $W(x, y; w_0) = G(x, y; w_0) - G_0(x, y)$ .

As function of y for fixed  $x \in \mathcal{A}_0$ , W satisfies the system

(40) 
$$\nabla W + w_0 \cdot \nabla W + w_0 \cdot \nabla G_0 - \nabla P = 0,$$
$$\nabla \cdot W = 0$$

and W,  $\nabla W$  are finite in  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . On  $\Sigma$ , W=0. On  $\Sigma_{2R_0}$ ,  $W=G(x, y; w_0)$ . By Lemma 2.1 there is a solenoidal field  $\zeta(x; y)$  in  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , such that  $\zeta(x; y) \equiv 0$  for  $y \in \mathscr{A}_0$  and such that  $\zeta(x; y) = W(x, y; w_0)$  for  $y \in \Sigma_{2R_0}$ . Further, using Lemma 3.7, it is clear that  $\zeta$  can be chosen so that  $|\zeta|$ ,  $|\nabla_y \zeta|$  are uniformly bounded when  $x \in \mathscr{A}_0$ . Let  $\Omega = W - \zeta$ . Then  $\Omega = 0$  on  $\Sigma$ ,  $\Sigma_{2R_0}$ , and  $\nabla \cdot \Omega = 0$  in  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . Multiply (40) by  $\Omega$  and integrate over  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . We find, for arbitrary fixed  $x \in \mathscr{A}_0$ ,

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}_{\bullet}} |\nabla \Omega|^2 dy = -\int_{\mathscr{B}_{\bullet}} \zeta \cdot w_0 \cdot \nabla \Omega \, dy - \int_{\mathscr{B}_{\bullet}} (\nabla \Omega \cdot \nabla \zeta) \, dy - \int_{\mathscr{B}_{\bullet}} G_0 \cdot w_0 \cdot \nabla \Omega \, dy$$

from which, for any  $\lambda > 0$ ,

(41) 
$$\int_{\mathscr{B}_0} |\nabla \Omega|^2 dy \leq \frac{3\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathscr{B}_0} |\nabla \Omega|^2 dy + \frac{1}{2\lambda} \int_{\mathscr{B}_0} [\zeta^2 w_0^2 + |\nabla \zeta|^2 + G_0^2 w_0^2] dy.$$

The estimates of ODQVIST [15] imply in particular  $|G_0(x, y)| < C|x-y|^{-1}$ , uniformly for  $x, y \in \mathscr{B}_0$ . Hence (41) implies:

**Lemma 3.9.** If  $G_0(x, y)$  is the Green's tensor for (6) in  $\mathscr{B}_0$  and  $G(x, y; w_0)$  the Green's tensor for (4) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , then  $W = G - G_0$  satisfies  $||W|| \mathscr{B}_0 < C$  as function of y, uniformly for  $x \in \mathscr{A}_0$  and for  $w_0$  in any finite interval.

Let us represent the tensor field W in  $\mathscr{B}_0$  with the aid of the fundamental tensor  $G_0$  and the auxiliary field  $\zeta(x, y)$ . We find

$$W(x, y; w_0) = \zeta(x, y) + \int_{\mathscr{B}_0} G_0(y, z) \cdot w_0 \cdot \nabla W(x, z) dz - \int_{\mathscr{B}_0} G_0(y, z) \cdot w_0 \cdot \nabla G_0(x, z) dz - \int_{\mathscr{B}_0} G_0(y, z) \cdot \Delta \zeta(x, z) dz.$$

If  $y \neq x$ , we may differentiate under the sign with respect to y. Using the Odqvist estimate  $|\nabla G_0(x, y)| < C|x-y|^{-2}$ , we have following:

$$|\nabla_{y} W(x, y)| \leq C \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} r_{yz}^{-2} |\nabla_{z} W(x, z)| dz + C \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} r_{yz}^{-2} r_{zz}^{-2} dz + C.$$

Setting  $|y| = r_{0y}$ , multiplying by  $r_{0y}^{-2}$  and integrating over  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , we obtain

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} r_{0y}^{-2} |\nabla_{y} W(x, y)| \, dy \leq C \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} r_{0z}^{-1} |\nabla_{z} W(x, z)| \, dz + C \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} r_{0y}^{-2} r_{xy}^{-1} \, dy + C$$
$$\leq C \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} r_{0z}^{-2} \, dz + C \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} |\nabla W|^{2} \, dz + C |\log r_{0z}|$$

for a suitable constant C. We have proved:

Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., Vol. 19

**Lemma 3.10.** Under the hypotheses of the preceding lemma there holds for  $x \in \mathcal{A}_0$ ,

$$|x| \int_{\mathscr{B}_{0}} |y|^{-2} |\nabla G(x, y; w_{0})| \, dy < \frac{H}{2}$$

for some constant H, uniformly on any finite set of values  $w_0$ .

This lemma has completed the proof of Theorem 3.1, which now follows from Lemmas 3.3 and 3.6 if |x| is large, and from Lemmas 3.8 and 3.10 if x is near  $\Sigma$ .

### 4. The Nonlinear Problem; Existence

In terms of the variable  $u(x) = \lambda^{-1}(w - w_0)$ , the Navier-Stokes equations (2) take the form

(3) 
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{p} = \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \lambda \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{u},$$
$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = 0.$$

Let  $u^*$  be prescribed data on  $\Sigma$ , and suppose f(x) is locally smooth and decays suitably at infinity.

It is proposed to solve (3) for a function u(x) satisfying  $|u(x)| < Cr^{-1}$  at infinity, by an approximation procedure. To do so, we begin by representing an arbitrary solution u(x) in  $\mathscr{E}$  by the Green's tensor  $G(x, y; w_0)$  introduced in the preceding section. For an annular region  $\mathscr{A}_R$  bounded by  $\Sigma$  and by a sphere  $\Sigma_R$  of (large) radius R, we find

$$u(x) = \oint_{\Sigma} u^* \cdot T G \, d\sigma + \int_{\mathscr{A}_R} G \cdot f \, dy + \lambda \int_{\mathscr{A}_R} G \cdot u \cdot \nabla u \, dy + \\ + \oint_{\Sigma_R} [u \cdot T G - G \cdot T u + (G \cdot u) w_0] \, d\sigma.$$

We may also write, since G(x, y) = 0 if  $y \in \Sigma$ ,

$$\int_{\mathscr{A}_R} G \cdot u \cdot \nabla u \, dy = - \int_{\mathscr{A}_R} u \cdot u \cdot \nabla G \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma_R} (G \cdot u) \, u \, d\sigma.$$

If we assume for the moment the results of § 5, then Corollary 2.8, applied to G(x, y) for  $y \to \infty$ , shows that the outer surface integral vanishes in the limit, and we obtain the representation, valid whenever  $|x|^{\beta} f(x) \in L_{2}(\mathscr{E}), \beta > \frac{1}{2}$ ,

(42) 
$$u(x) = \oint_{\Sigma} u^* \cdot T G \, d\sigma + \int_{\mathscr{E}} G \cdot f \, dy - \lambda \int_{\mathscr{E}} u \cdot u \cdot \nabla G \, dy.$$

The first two terms on the right represent the solution U(x) of the inhomogeneous linear equation (4), such that  $U(x) = u^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . Thus, any solution u(x)of (3) with the specified decay at infinity admits the representation

(43) 
$$u(x) = U(x) - \lambda \int_{\mathscr{S}} u \cdot u \cdot \nabla G \, dy$$

where  $G = G(x, y; w_0)$  in the Green's tensor for (4) in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

Let us suppose f(x) so chosen that  $|U(x)| < Cr^{-1}$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ . In particular, this will be the case if f(x) has compact support in  $\mathscr{E}$ . We seek to write u(x) as an expansion

(44) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \sum_{1}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{u}_{j}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, \lambda^{j}$$

in the parameter  $\lambda$ , such that  $|u_j(x)| < Cr^{-1}$  for each j. Assuming (44), set  $v_j(x) = r u_j(x)$ ,  $v_0(x) = r U(x)$ , obtaining

(45) 
$$\boldsymbol{v}(x) = \boldsymbol{r} \, \boldsymbol{u}(x) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{v}_{j}(x) \, \lambda^{j}$$

The representation (43) leads to the recursion relation

(46)  
$$\boldsymbol{v}_{n+1}(x) = |x| \int_{\mathscr{S}} |y|^{-2} [\boldsymbol{v}_0(y) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_n(y) + \boldsymbol{v}_1(y) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{n-1}(y) + \dots + \boldsymbol{v}_n(y) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_0(y)] \cdot \nabla G(x, y; \boldsymbol{w}_0) \, dy.$$

By Theorem 3.1 there holds

$$|x| \int_{\mathcal{R}} |y|^{-2} |\nabla G(x, y; w_0)| dy < H$$

uniformly for  $x \in \mathscr{E}$ . Thus the series with constant coefficients

$$(47) V = \sum_{0}^{\infty} V_{j} \lambda^{j}$$

will be a dominant series for (45), provided

$$|v_0(x)| \le V_0$$
, all  $x \in \mathscr{E}$ ,  
 $V_{n+1} = (V_0 V_n + V_1 V_{n-1} + \dots + V_n V_0) H$ .

The convergence of (47) then implies

$$V = V_0 + \lambda H V^2.$$

The solution of this equation has a branch which is analytic in  $\lambda$  in a circle about the origin, whose radius is determined by the vanishing of the discriminant. Thus, the series (47), and hence also the series (44), converges whenever  $\lambda < (4HV_0)^{-1}$ , and provides a solution of (3) in  $\mathscr{E}$  for such  $\lambda$ .

We may state further: the solution  $u(x) = u_0(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} u_i(x) \lambda^i$  is unique among

all solutions  $\overline{u}(x)$  satisfying the same boundary conditions and admitting corresponding expansions, such that  $|\overline{u}_j| = O(r^{-1})$  at infinity. For then the recursion relations, applied to the difference  $u(x) - \overline{u}(x)$ , lead successively to the identities  $u_j(x) - \overline{u}_j(x) \equiv 0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ , for each j.

One consequence of the above result for the original Navier-Stokes equations (2) is as follows. Suppose data  $w^*$  are prescribed on  $\Sigma$ . Set  $u^* = w^* - w_0$ , and let U(x) be the solution of the linearized system (4) with data  $u^*$ . Suppose  $u^*$  and f are sufficiently small that  $4H \sup_{x} |x| |U(x)| < 1$ . Then the series (44) converges for the value  $\lambda = 1$ . We have proved:

**Theorem 4.1.** If the data  $w^*$  are sufficiently close to  $w_0$ , and the external force f(x) sufficiently small, in the sense indicated above, then there is a solution w(x) of the Navier-Stokes equations (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , such that  $w(x) = w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ ,  $w(x) \to w_0$ at infinity and  $|w(x) - w_0| < Cr^{-1}$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ . The solution can be obtained explicitly by a successive approximation procedure, requiring only the solution of linear inhomogeneous equations, with vanishing boundary conditions.

The estimates leading to Theorem 4.1 are uniform on any finite interval of values  $w_0$ . Hence, we obtain the following special case of the above result:

26\*

#### Robert Finn:

**Corollary 4.1.** If  $w_0$  and f(x) are sufficiently small, then there is a solution w(x) of (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , such that w(x) = 0 on  $\Sigma$ ,  $w(x) \to w_0$  at infinity, and  $|w(x) - w_0| < Cr^{-1}$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

The solutions just constructed are unique in a broad class for small data, and they are physically reasonable in the sense that they exhibit a paraboloidal "wake region" in the direction of the flow at infinity. The demonstrations of these facts require, however, some effort; they are a consequence of the material in the following section.

#### 5. Asymptotic Structure of the Solutions; Uniqueness

The material to follow is based on the representation

(48) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\int\limits_{\mathscr{E}} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{E} \, d\boldsymbol{y} + \oint\limits_{\Sigma} \left[ \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{T} \boldsymbol{E} - \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{T} \boldsymbol{u} + (\boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}) \left( \boldsymbol{u} + \boldsymbol{w}_{0} \right) \right] d\boldsymbol{\sigma}$$

with  $u(x) = w(x) - w_0$ , which, like (42), is valid for any of the solutions of (2)<sub>0</sub> in  $\mathscr{E}$  to be considered. Under suitable assumptions, we shall estimate u(x) at infinity.

5.1. The case  $w_0 \neq 0$ 

If  $w_0 \neq 0$ , the solutions constructed in the preceding section have at infinity a structure which is identical, up to terms of small order, with that of the fundamental tensor E(x), e(x), in the sense

$$\boldsymbol{w}(x) = \boldsymbol{w}_0 + \boldsymbol{a} \cdot \boldsymbol{E}(x) + b \boldsymbol{e}(x) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}(x)$$

where  $a, b, \sigma(x)$  have the significance indicated in Corollary 2.8. To show this, it suffices to show that the nonlinear operator

$$N[\mathbf{u}] = \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\mathbf{u}(y)|^2 |\nabla \mathbf{E}(x, y)| \, dy$$

has the order  $\sigma(x)$  at infinity whenever u(x) is a solution of (3) satisfying  $|u(x)| = O(r^{-1})$ . The proof of this can be obtained as a consequence of the following general result.

**Theorem 5.1.** Suppose  $w_0 \neq 0$ . Let  $\tau$  denote distance along an axis in the direction  $w_0$ , and let  $\varrho$  be distance orthogonal to the axis. Suppose u(x) satisfies in  $\mathscr{E}$  the inequalities

(49) 
$$|\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x})| < \begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\alpha} & \text{throughout } \mathcal{E} \\ |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\beta} \varrho^{-\beta} & \text{if } \varrho \ge |\boldsymbol{\tau}|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\beta} & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\tau} < 0, \\ 1 & \text{if } |\boldsymbol{x}| \le 1, \end{cases}$$

where  $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}$  and  $\beta \ge 0$ . Then  $N[\mathbf{u}]$  satisfies, for some constant C independent of the particular choice of  $\mathbf{u}(x)$ ,

(50) 
$$N[\boldsymbol{u}] < \begin{cases} C |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\bar{\alpha}} & \text{throughout } \mathscr{E}, \\ C |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\bar{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2}\bar{\beta}}\varrho^{-\bar{\beta}} & \text{if } \varrho \ge |\tau|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ C |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\bar{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2}\bar{\beta}} & \text{if } \tau < 0, \\ C & \text{if } |\boldsymbol{x}| \le 1 \end{cases}$$

where  $\bar{\alpha}$  is any quantity such that

(51) 
$$\overline{\alpha} < \begin{cases} \min\left[\alpha + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \alpha + \frac{\beta}{2}\right] & \text{if } \beta \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \\ \min\left[\alpha + \varepsilon, \alpha + \frac{\beta^*}{2}\right] & \text{if } \beta > \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \end{cases}$$

with  $\varepsilon = \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\beta^* = \min[\beta, 1]$ , and  $\beta$  is replaced by

(52) 
$$\bar{\beta} = \begin{cases} \varepsilon & \text{if } \beta \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \\ \min[2\varepsilon + \beta, 2\alpha + \beta^*, 2\beta, \beta + 2, 3], & \text{if } \beta \geq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}. \end{cases}$$

Remark 1. The hypothesis (49) implies the existence of a paraboloidal "wake region" in the direction  $w_0$ , in which  $u(x) = O(|x|^{-\alpha})$ . Outside any cone whose axis coincides with that of the paraboloid, there holds  $u(x) = O(|x|^{-\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2}})$ .

Remark 2. The reason for excluding equality in (51) is the possible occurrence of logarithmic terms. Such terms can occur in the estimate for N[u] in the three cases  $\beta = 1$ ,  $1+\beta-2\alpha=0$ , or  $3-2\alpha-\beta^*=0$ . In all other cases the inequality in (51) can be replaced by equality.

Theorem 5.1 will be proved by splitting the region of integration into a number of subregions, in each of which one of the two factors occurring in the integrand of the expression for N[u] is constant on each of a suitable family of surfaces of integration. The decomposition is indicated in Fig. 1 (overleaf), the various symmetries in the figure being indicated in the end view. The origin of coordinates is designated by 0, x is the point of evaluation, |x| = R, and x is (at first) assumed at distance  $CR^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}$  from the paraboloidal axis through 0, where  $0 \le \sigma \le \frac{1}{2}$ .  $\sigma=0$ corresponds to a paraboloidal "wake" surface, while  $\sigma=\frac{1}{2}$  yields a cone containing all such paraboloids at infinity. For purposes of definiteness the value C=2 is chosen in Fig. 1. The points 0 and x are each enclosed in cylinders of radius  $\frac{1}{2}R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}$ , and both these cylinders are enclosed in a larger one of radius  $\frac{5}{2}R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}$ .

In the estimates that follow, multiplicative constants having no relevance to order of magnitude are omitted; thus a term  $R^{\alpha}$  is to be understood as a term bounded for large R by  $CR^{\alpha}$  for some constant C. The Roman numerals correspond to the estimates for  $\int u^2 |\nabla E| dy$  over the regions indicated in Fig. 1. The symbol  $\lambda$  denotes the exponent of r which appears in each estimate.

I. In this region,  $|u|^2 < R^{(-2\alpha-\beta)(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}, |\nabla E| < R^{-3(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}$ . Hence

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{\mathrm{I}} &\leq (-2\alpha - \beta - 3) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right) + 3 \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right) \\ &= -(2\alpha + \beta) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right). \end{split}$$
  
II. Here  $|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha + \beta} R^{-2\beta \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)}$ , while  $|\nabla \boldsymbol{E}| < R^{-\frac{3}{2} - 3\sigma}$ . Hence  
 $\mathrm{II} < R^{-(2\beta + 3) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)} \int_{\tau}^{R} \tau^{-2\alpha + \beta} d\tau, \end{split}$ 

so that

$$\lambda_{\text{II}} \leq \max\left\{-\alpha - \varepsilon - 2\beta\sigma - \sigma, -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha\sigma - \beta\sigma\right\}$$

 $R^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sigma$ 

unless  $1+\beta-2\alpha=0$ , in which case a logarithmic term appears.

ROBERT FINN:

III. A formal calculation yields the estimate for the surface integral of  $u^2(y)$  over a sphere  $V_r$  of radius  $r \ge 1$  about the origin:

$$\oint_{\Sigma_r} u^2 d\sigma < r^{2-2\alpha-\beta^*}.$$

$$\int_{V_r} u^2 dy < \max\{r^{3-2\alpha-\beta^*}, 1\}$$

unless  $3-2\alpha-\beta=0$ , in which case a logarithmic factor enters.



The radius of the sphere III is  $r = R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}$ . In this sphere  $|\nabla E| < R^{-3(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}$ . Thus if  $3-2\alpha-\beta \neq 0$ , then

$$\lambda_{\text{III}} < \max\{-(2\alpha + \beta)(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma), -3(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma)\},\$$

a logarithmic factor appearing in the other case.

IV. One has

$$\int_{V_r} |\nabla E| \, dy < r^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Again  $r = R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}$ , while  $|u|^2 < R^{-2(\alpha+\beta\sigma)}$  in IV. Thus

$$\lambda_{\rm IV} < -\alpha - \varepsilon - 2\beta \sigma - \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\sigma}{2} \\ < -\alpha - \varepsilon - 2\beta \sigma$$

since  $\sigma < \frac{1}{2}$ .

V. There holds uniformly  $|\nabla E| < R^{-3(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}$ . Consider first the subregion Va defined by setting  $\varrho^2 < \tau$ . In Va one has  $|u|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha}$ . Therefore

$$\operatorname{Va} < R^{-3(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} d\tau \, \tau^{-2\alpha} \int_{0}^{r^{\frac{1}{2}}} \varrho \, d\varrho.$$

386

Hence

Since  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ ,

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{Va}} < -(2\alpha+1)(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)$$

In the remaining part Vb of V there holds  $|u|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \varrho^{-2\beta}$ , so that

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{Vb} &\leq R^{-3(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)} \int\limits_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} d\tau \, \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \int\limits_{\tau^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}} \varrho^{-2\beta+1} \, d\varrho \\ &= R^{-3(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)} \int\limits_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} d\tau \, \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \begin{cases} R^{-2(\beta-1)(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}, & \beta < 1, \\ \tau^{-(\beta-1)}, & \beta > 1. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\lambda_{\rm Vb} \leq \max \begin{cases} -\alpha - \varepsilon - 2\beta\sigma - \sigma, \\ -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha\sigma - \beta\sigma, \\ -\alpha - \varepsilon - 3\sigma, \\ -\alpha - \frac{1}{2} - 2\alpha\sigma \end{cases}$$

unless  $\beta = 1$  or  $1 + \beta - 2\alpha = 0$ , in which cases logarithmic factors appear.

VI. In this region all quantities are of not larger magnitude than in V, hence the above estimate dominates.

VII. The distance from 0 to x along the  $\tau$ -axis has the order R, and there is no loss of generality in setting it equal to R. One then has  $\tau = R - s$ , where s is distance from x along the  $\tau$ -axis in the direction  $-w_0$ . Let  $\Gamma_s$  denote a section of the cylinder containing x, at distance  $s \ge R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}$  from x. One computes from (29)

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\bullet}} |\nabla E| \, d\sigma < s^{-\frac{1}{2}} = (R-\tau)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

In VII,  $|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} R^{-2\beta(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}$ . Thus,

$$\operatorname{VII} \leq R^{-2\beta(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} (R-\tau)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\tau.$$

Set  $\tau = Rt$ . Then

$$VII \leq R^{-2\beta(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)} R^{-2\alpha+\beta+\frac{1}{2}} \int_{R^{-\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{1} t^{-2\alpha+\beta} (1-t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dt$$
$$\leq R^{-2\alpha-2\beta\sigma+\frac{1}{2}} [1+R^{(-2\alpha+\beta+1)(-\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}]$$

or a logarithm replacing the bracketed expression if  $1+\beta-2\alpha=0$ . Therefore

$$\lambda_{\text{VII}} \leq \max\left\{-\alpha - \varepsilon - 2\beta\sigma, -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - \beta\sigma - 2\varepsilon\sigma\right\}$$

a logarithm appearing in the exceptional case  $1+\beta-2\alpha=0$ .

VIII. Here

$$|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 < R^{-2\alpha+\beta}R^{-2\beta(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)},$$
  
$$\int_{\Gamma-4} |\nabla \boldsymbol{E}| \, d\sigma < |s|^{-3}R^{1+2\sigma},$$

so that

$$\text{VIII} \leq R^{-2\alpha - 2\beta\sigma} R^{1 + 2\sigma} R^{-2(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma)}$$

or

$$\lambda_{\text{VIII}} \leq -\alpha - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} - (2\beta + \varepsilon) \sigma$$

ROBERT FINN:

IX. In this region,  $|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 < R^{(-2\alpha-\beta)(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}, \int_{\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{v}}} |\nabla \boldsymbol{E}| \, d\sigma < R^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$  Thus  $IX \leq R^{(-2\alpha-\beta)(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)}R^{-\frac{1}{2}}R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma},$ 

so that

$$\lambda_{IX} \leq -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha \sigma - \beta \sigma + \sigma$$
$$= -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\varepsilon \sigma - \beta \sigma.$$

X. There holds here  $\int_{I_i} |\nabla E| d\sigma < R^{-\frac{1}{2}}, |u|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha-\beta}$ . Hence

$$\mathbf{X} \leq R^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} \tau^{-2\alpha-\beta} d\tau$$

from which

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{X}} \leq -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha \sigma - \beta \sigma + \sigma$$
$$\leq -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\varepsilon \sigma - \beta \sigma$$

since  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon$ .

XI. We have  $|u|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha-\beta}$ ,  $|\nabla E| < \varrho^{-3}$ , so that

$$XI < \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{K} d\tau \, \tau^{-2\alpha-\beta} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{\infty} \varrho^{-2} d\varrho$$

from which

$$\lambda_{\rm XI} < \max\left\{-\alpha - \varepsilon - \beta - \sigma, -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha\sigma - \beta\sigma\right\}$$

unless  $1+\beta-2\alpha=0$ , in which case a logarithm appears.

XII. Here  $|u|^2 < \varrho^{-2\alpha-\beta}$ ,  $|\nabla E| < \varrho^{-3}$ , hence

$$\operatorname{XII} \leq R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{\infty} \varrho^{-2x-\beta} \varrho^{-2} d\varrho$$

and

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{XII}} \leq -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha \sigma - \beta \sigma.$$

XIII. In this region,  $|u|^2 < \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \varrho^{-2\beta}$ ,  $|\nabla E| < \varrho^{-3}$ , so that

$$\operatorname{XIII} < \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} d\tau \, \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} \varrho^{-2\beta-2} d\varrho$$

and there follows

$$\lambda_{\text{XIII}} \leq \max\left\{-\alpha - \varepsilon - 2\beta \sigma - \sigma, -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha \sigma - \beta \sigma\right\}$$

with the proviso that a logarithmic factor enters if  $1+\beta-2\alpha=0$ . XIV. Here  $|u|^2 < \varrho^{-2\alpha-\beta}$ ,  $|\nabla E| < \varrho^{-3}$ ,

$$\operatorname{XIV} \leq \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma}}^{R} d\tau \int_{\tau}^{\infty} \varrho^{-2\alpha-\beta-2} d\varrho$$

so that

$$\lambda_{\rm XIV} \leq -\alpha - \frac{\beta}{2} - 2\alpha \sigma - \beta \sigma = -(2\alpha + \beta) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)$$

XV. We integrate over concentric spherical surfaces S, of radius r > 2R centered at 0. On these surfaces,  $|\nabla E| < r^{-3}$ , while  $\int_{S_r} u^2 d\sigma$  is less than the corresponding integral over the entire sphere of that radius,

$$\int_{S_r} u^2 d\sigma < \oint_{\Sigma_r} u^2 d\sigma < r^{2-2\alpha-\beta^*},$$

a result obtained by an easy calculation, using the hypothesis (49). Thus,

$$\mathrm{XV} < \int_{R}^{\infty} r^{-1-2\alpha-\beta^*} dr,$$

 $\lambda_{\rm XV} < -2\alpha - \beta^*$ .

and

XVI. In this case  $|u|^2 < r^{-2\alpha-\beta}$ ,  $|\nabla E| < r^{-3}$ . There certainly holds

$$XVI < \int_{R}^{\infty} r^{-3} r^{-2\alpha-\beta} r^2 dr$$

 $\lambda_{\rm XVI} \leq -2\alpha - \beta$ .

so that

XVII. Again we integrate over concentric spherical surfaces about 0, noting this time that  $f = \int \nabla P \left[ \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \right]$ 

$$\oint_{\Sigma_r} |\nabla E| \, d\sigma < r^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Since  $|u|^2 < r^{-2\alpha-\beta}$  in XVII, we obtain

$$\lambda_{\rm XVII} \leq -\alpha - \beta - \varepsilon.$$

This completes the estimates in the situation considered, for which  $\varrho = CR^{\frac{1}{4}-\sigma}$ ,  $0 \le \sigma \le \frac{1}{2}$ . There are two cases not covered by this situation, namely the one in which x lies exterior to a cone  $\varrho = CR$  which opens in the direction  $w_0$ , and the one in which  $\varrho < R^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . In the former case, all the above estimates apply with  $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$  (in fact, they simplify greatly). The latter case requires a special discussion.



The situation is illustrated in Fig. 2. We may assume that 0 lies on the axis of a cylinder Z of a radius  $2R^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and that x is of distance  $\langle R^{\frac{1}{2}}$  from this axis. This cylinder is now enclosed in another concentric one of radius  $3R^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . One sees immediately that all estimates corresponding to regions outside Z proceed as before, simply by setting  $\sigma=0$ . In Z, the estimate is now most easily established, using the decomposition indicated in Fig. 2.

 $I_0$ . Here  $|\nabla E| < R^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ , and

$$\oint_{\Sigma_r} |u|^2 d\sigma < r^{2-2\alpha-\beta^*}.$$

Thus,

$$\lambda_{I_o} = \max\left\{-\frac{3}{2}, -\alpha - \frac{\beta^*}{2}\right\}$$

unless  $3-2\alpha-\beta^*=0$ , in which event a logarithm appears.

II<sub>0</sub>. We have  $|u|^2 < R^{-2\alpha}$ ,  $\oint_{\Sigma_r} |\nabla E| d\sigma < r^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . We compute

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{II}_{0}} < -2\alpha + \frac{1}{4} = -\alpha - \frac{1}{4} - \varepsilon.$$

III<sub>0</sub>. There holds  $|\nabla E| < R^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ , and on a cylindrical section  $\Gamma_{\tau}$ ,

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\tau}} |\boldsymbol{u}|^2 d\sigma = \tau^{-2\alpha} \int_{0}^{\tau_{\tau}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \varrho \, d\varrho + \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \int_{\tau_{\tau}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{R_{\tau}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \varrho \, d\varrho$$
$$= \tau^{1-2\alpha} + \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} \begin{cases} \tau^{1-2\alpha}, & \beta > 1\\ \tau^{-2\alpha+\beta} R^{-(\beta-1)}, & \beta < 1 \end{cases}$$

Integrating with respect to  $\tau$ , we find

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{III}_{0} < R^{-\frac{\beta}{2}} \int_{R^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{R} |u|^{2} d\sigma \\ & < R^{-\frac{\beta}{2}} \begin{cases} R^{1-\alpha}, & \beta > 1 \\ R^{-\alpha+\frac{3}{2}-\frac{\beta}{2}}, & \beta < 1 \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

so that

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{III}_{\mathfrak{a}}} \leq -\alpha - \frac{\beta^*}{2}.$$

 $IV_0$ . Here all quantities are smaller than in  $III_0$ , so the estimate for that region prevails.

 $V_0$ . Throughout this region,  $|u|^2 < R^{-2\alpha}$ . On a section  $\Gamma_s$ ,  $\int_{\Gamma_s} |\nabla E| d\sigma < s^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . Integrating in s, we find

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{V}_{\mathbf{a}}} < -2\alpha + \frac{1}{2} = -\alpha - \varepsilon.$$

 $VI_0$ . All quantities entering in the estimations are smaller than in the case just considered, so the estimate for  $V_0$  prevails.

The demonstration of Theorem 5.1 is now completed by collecting all the above estimates and examining the finite number of possibilities that can occur.

A case of special interest is that in which u(x) decays asymptotically as the fundamental tensor E(x-y). Then  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 2$ . This is one of the exceptional cases in which a logarithm appears (*cf.* Remark 2 following Theorem 5.1). All estimates remain unchanged, however, except III and III<sub>0</sub>. We are led to the result:

**Corollary 5.1.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1, if  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 2$ , then  $N[\mathbf{u}]$  satisfies:

(53) 
$$N[u] < \begin{cases} C|x|^{-\frac{3}{2}}\log(|x|+1) & \text{throughout } \mathscr{E}, \\ C \varrho^{-3}\log(|x|+1) & \text{if } \varrho \ge |\tau|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ C|x|^{-3}\log(|x|+1) & \text{if } \tau < 0, \\ C & \text{if } |x| \le 1 \end{cases}$$

where the constant C does not depend on u(x).

We may apply the above results to the solutions of  $(2)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ . Let w(x) be such a solution, such that  $w(x) \rightarrow w_0$  at infinity. Set  $u(x) = w - w_0$ , and suppose  $|u(x)| < C|x|^{-\alpha}$  with  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ . We may write

$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{u}_{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \boldsymbol{u}_{\mathscr{E}}(\boldsymbol{x})$$

corresponding to the surface and volume integrals in the representation (48).  $\boldsymbol{u}_{\Sigma}(x)$  satisfies (50) with  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 2$ , so that  $N[\boldsymbol{u}_{\Sigma}]$  satisfies (53). On the other hand,  $\boldsymbol{u}(x)$  satisfies (50) with the given  $\alpha$  and with  $\beta = 0$ . According to Theorem 5.1,  $N[\boldsymbol{u}]$  satisfies again (50) with any  $\bar{\alpha} < \alpha$  and with some  $\bar{\beta} > 0$  (in this case we may choose  $\bar{\alpha} = \alpha$ ). Since  $|\boldsymbol{u}(x)| = |\boldsymbol{u}_{\Sigma}(x) + \boldsymbol{u}_{\mathscr{S}}(x)| \leq |\boldsymbol{u}_{\Sigma}(x)| + N[\boldsymbol{u}]$ , it follows that the original solution  $\boldsymbol{u}(x)$  satisfies this improved estimate, with the proviso that  $\bar{\alpha} \leq 1$ . Inserting this result into  $N[\boldsymbol{u}]$  now yields larger values for  $\alpha$  and for  $\beta$  in the estimate (50). A finite number of iterations then leads to the result:

Theorem 5.2. Let w(x) be smooth in  $\mathscr{E} + \Sigma$  and satisfy  $(2)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ . Suppose  $|w(x) - w_0| < C|x|^{-\alpha}$  as  $x \to \infty$  for some  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ . Let  $u(x) = w(x) - w_0$ . Then

(54) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{u}_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \boldsymbol{N}[\boldsymbol{u}]$$

where  $\mathbf{u}_{\Sigma}(x)$  is the surface integral in (48) and  $N[\mathbf{u}]$ , the volume integral in (48), satisfies (50) with  $\overline{\beta}=3$  and any  $\overline{\alpha}$  such that  $\overline{\alpha}<\frac{3}{2}$ . In particular,  $\mathbf{w}(x)$  exhibits a paraboloidal "wake region" at infinity. The behavior of  $\mathbf{u}(x)$  along any path tending to infinity is, up to terms of order  $N[\mathbf{u}]$ , identical to that of the fundamental tensor  $E(x; \mathbf{w}_0)$  considered as function of x.

Let us consider the derivatives of the solution  $\boldsymbol{w}(x)$ . The representation (48) cannot be differentiated under the sign, but the following device is effective. Consider that part of the volume integral which is extended over a unit ball V centered at x. We may write, since  $\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{w} = \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = 0$ ,

(55) 
$$\int_{V} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{E} \, dy = \oint_{S} \left( \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \right) \boldsymbol{u} \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \int_{V} \boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{u} \, dy$$

where S is the bounding surface.

At any point z having distance  $> 2\gamma$  from  $\Sigma$ , we may represent u(x) with the aid of the truncated tensor  $E^{\gamma}(x-z; w_0)$  (cf. § 2.3) obtaining

$$\boldsymbol{u}(z) = \int_{V^{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{E}^{\gamma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u} \, dy + \int_{V^{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{H}^{\gamma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \, dy$$
$$= -\int_{V^{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{E}^{\gamma} \, dy + \int_{V^{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{H}^{\gamma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \, dy.$$

The latter relation leads to a Hölder bound on u(z) for any exponent  $\alpha < 1$ , with constant proportional (for fixed  $\alpha$ ) to max |u(x)|. But we may also write

(56) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(z) = -\int_{V^{\gamma}} [\boldsymbol{u}(y) \cdot \boldsymbol{u}(y) - \boldsymbol{u}(z) \cdot \boldsymbol{u}(z)] \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{E}^{\gamma} dy + \int_{V^{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{H}^{\gamma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} dy.$$

Because of the Hölder continuity of u(x), (56) can be differentiated under the sign, leading to the estimate

$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{z})| < C \max_{\boldsymbol{v}^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}} |\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{y})|,$$

C depending only on  $w_0$  and on  $\gamma$ . Thus,  $|\nabla u|$  satisfies at infinity the same estimates which were shown in Theorem 5.2 to hold for |u(x)|. Placing this result in (55) shows that the quantity  $\nabla\{\int u(y) \cdot u(y) \cdot \nabla E(x-y) \, dy\}$  satisfies an estimate (50) with  $\bar{\alpha} = 2$ ,  $\bar{\beta} = 4$ .

The remaining terms in the representation (48) can now be estimated by differentiating under the sign and repeating the reasoning which led to Theorem 5.2. The procedure is formally unchanged, and details are omitted. We find

Theorem 5.3. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.2, we may write

 $\nabla u(x) = \nabla u_{\Sigma}(x) + N'[u]$ 

where |N'[u]| satisfies (50) with  $\bar{\alpha}=2$ ,  $\bar{\beta}=4$ .

Similarly, one may discuss the pressure term, starting from the representation (see (28))

(57) 
$$p(x) = p_0 + \int_{\mathscr{S}} e(x-y) \cdot u \cdot \nabla u \, dy + \oint_{\Sigma} \{u \cdot Te - e \cdot Tu + (e \cdot u) \, w_0\} \, d\sigma$$

and using the fact that the kernel e(x-y) can be expressed as a gradient. We obtain

**Theorem 5.4.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.2, there holds, analogous to (54),

$$p(\mathbf{x}) = p_{\Sigma}(\mathbf{x}) + P[\mathbf{u}]$$

where  $P[\mathbf{u}]$  satisfies (50) with  $\bar{\alpha}=2$ ,  $\bar{\beta}=2$ .

## 5.2. The case $w_0 = 0$

If  $w_0=0$ , the nonlinear term in (48) does not appear in general to decay at infinity more rapidly than the surface integral. Nevertheless, this term admits a qualitative estimate for all functions w(x) such that  $|w(x)| = O(r^{-1})$ . The estimate can be obtained by subdividing the region of integration into a sphere of radius  $\frac{1}{2}|x|$  about the origin, the exterior of a concentric sphere of radius 2|x|, and the remaining annular region. We find easily  $N[w] < C|x|^{-1}$ . If w(x) is a solution in  $\mathscr{E}$ , then  $\nabla w$  and p(x) can be estimated as above. Thus:

Theorem 5.5. Suppose  $w_0 = 0$ , and  $|w(x)| < |x|^{-1}$  as  $x \to \infty$ . Then  $N[w] < C|x|^{-1}$ , where C does not depend on the choice of w(x). If w(x) is a solution of  $(2)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ , then  $N'[w] < C|x|^{-2} \log |x|$  as  $x \to \infty$ , and  $P[w] < C|x|^{-2}$ .

Theorem 5.5 exhibits the compactness property of the operator N[w], which is the underlying reason that the existence theorem of the preceding section could be obtained with vanishing data on  $\Sigma$  and nonvanishing data at infinity. The class of functions which decay as  $|x|^{-1}$  is mapped compactly into itself, uniformly on an interval of  $w_0$  which extends to  $w_0=0$ . This is evidently not the case for any family of functions which decay as  $|x|^{-\alpha}$ , if  $\alpha < 1$ , whereas the method requires such an estimate to hold for some  $\alpha \leq 1$ .

In the material that follows, the following definitions will be adopted:

**Definition 5.1.** A solution w(x) of (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$  will be said to be in the class PR (physically reasonable) if it satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 5.2 or of Theorem 5.5.

The justification for the definition lies in the conclusions of those theorems. Although those results were proved under the assumption  $f \equiv 0$ , they evidently hold whenever the volume integrals containing f(x) are sufficiently well behaved at infinity. This is the case, for example, whenever f(x) has compact support in  $\mathscr{C} + \Sigma$ .

**Definition 5.2.** A solution w(x) of (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$  will be said to be in the class D if it has finite Dirichlet integral over  $\mathscr{E}$ , i.e., if

$$\int\limits_{\mathscr{S}} |\nabla \boldsymbol{w}|^2 dx < \infty.$$

Solutions of class D were first constructed by LERAY [2], see also [5, 13, 16, 17, 4]. Such solutions are known to be continuous at infinity, but no further asymptotic properties have been demonstrated (see, however, the discussion in § 6 of [13]). On the other hand, it follows from Theorems 5.3 and 5.5 that every solution of class PR is also in the class D.

#### 5.3. Consequences

Let  $\mathscr{F}$  be the force exerted on  $\Sigma$  by the fluid,

$$\mathscr{F} = - \oint_{\Sigma} T w \, d\sigma,$$

and define the deformation tensor by  $(\det w)_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial w_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial w_j}{\partial x_i} \right)$ . The following results are easy formal consequences of the above estimates. (For further details, see [7].)

**Theorem 5.6.** Let  $w(x) \in PR$ ,  $f \equiv 0$ . Then the term N[u] in the representation (48) yields no contribution to the force on  $\Sigma$ , that is,  $\mathcal{F}$  is determined by the solution of the linear system (4)<sub>0</sub> defined by the surface integral in (48).

The hypothesis  $f \equiv 0$  can, of course, be weakened.

Theorem 5.7. Let  $w(x) \in PR$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ ,  $f \equiv 0$ , and suppose  $w(x) \rightarrow w^* \equiv \text{constant}$ on  $\Sigma$ . Then

(58) 
$$\mathscr{F} \cdot (\boldsymbol{w}_0 - \boldsymbol{w}^*) = 2 \int\limits_{\mathscr{F}} (\operatorname{def} \boldsymbol{w})^2 dx.$$

**Corollary 5.7a.** Under the "physical" boundary condition  $w^*=0$ , there holds  $\mathscr{F} \cdot w_0 > 0$ , that is, there is a "drag" force in the direction  $w_0$ .

Corollary 5.7b. If  $w(x) \in PR$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ ,  $f \equiv 0$  and  $w(x) = w_0$  on  $\Sigma$ , then w(x) is the uniform flow  $w(x) \equiv w_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

**Theorem 5.8.** Let  $w(x) \in PR$  in  $\mathcal{E}$ ,  $f \equiv 0$ , and set

$$\boldsymbol{a} = \oint_{\Sigma} \left\{ T\boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{w} \, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{w}_0 \boldsymbol{w} \right\} d\boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$

Then  $|w(x) - w_0| = o(|x|^{-1})$  at infinity if and only if a = 0. In particular, if the flux and momentum flux across  $\Sigma$  of the (prescribed) data both vanish, then  $|w - w_0| = o(|x|^{-1})$  if and only if the net force exerted by the fluid on  $\Sigma$  is zero.

Corollary 5.8a (cf. BERKER [18]). Let w(x) satisfy  $(2)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ ,  $w \to w^* \equiv \text{const.}$ on  $\Sigma$ , and suppose  $|w(x) - w_0| = o(|x|^{-1})$  at infinity. Then  $w(x) \equiv w_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

**Theorem 5.9.** Let w(x) be a solution of  $(2)_0$  throughout Euclidean three-space, and suppose  $w(x) \in PR$ . Then  $w(x) \equiv w_0$ .

ROBERT FINN:

Finally we establish the uniqueness of solutions  $w(x) \in PR$ , which are sufficiently close to a uniform flow.

Theorem 5.10. Let w(x) be a solution of  $(2)_0$ , such that  $w(x) = w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . Suppose  $|w(x) - w_0| < \frac{v}{2} |x|^{-1}$  throughout  $\mathscr{E}$ . Let v(x) be a solution of  $(2)_0$  such that  $v(x) \in PR$ , and suppose  $v(x) = w^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . Then  $v(x) \equiv w(x)$  throughout  $\mathscr{E}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\eta = w - v$ , and let q(x) be the difference of pressures. Then

$$v \, \varDelta \eta - \eta \cdot \nabla \eta - \nabla q = (\eta \cdot \nabla w - w \cdot \nabla \eta)$$

Multiply by  $\eta$  and integrate over the annular region  $\mathscr{E}_R$  bounded between  $\Sigma$  and a large sphere  $\Sigma_R$ . We obtain

(59) 
$$- \frac{v}{\mathcal{S}_{R}} |\nabla\eta|^{2} dx = \int_{\mathcal{S}_{R}} \eta \cdot \eta \cdot \nabla w \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \oint_{\Sigma_{R}} |\eta|^{2} w \, d\sigma + \\ + \oint_{\Sigma_{R}} |\eta|^{2} \eta \, d\sigma - \frac{v}{2} \oint_{\Sigma_{R}} \nabla |\eta|^{2} d\sigma + \oint_{\Sigma_{R}} q \eta \, d\sigma.$$

By Theorems 5.2 to 5.5 all boundary terms vanish in the limit. Further,

$$\int_{\mathscr{S}_{R}} \eta \cdot \eta \cdot \nabla w \, dx = \int_{\mathscr{S}_{R}} \eta \cdot \eta \cdot \nabla (w - w_{0}) \, dx$$
$$= -\int_{\mathscr{S}_{R}} (w - w_{0}) \cdot \eta \cdot \nabla \eta \, dx + \oint_{\Sigma_{R}} \eta \cdot (w - w_{0}) \eta \, d\sigma.$$

Again the surface integral tends to zero. But by hypothesis,  $|w - w_0| < \frac{\nu}{2} |x|^{-1}$ , hence if  $\nabla \eta \equiv 0$ , there holds

$$\left|\int\limits_{\mathscr{E}_{R}} (\boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{w}_{0}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx\right|^{2} < \left|\frac{\nu}{2} \int\limits_{\mathscr{E}_{R}} r^{-1} \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dx\right|^{2} < \left(\frac{\nu}{2}\right)^{2} \int\limits_{\mathscr{E}_{R}} r^{-2} |\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{2} \, dx \int\limits_{\mathscr{E}_{R}} |\boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\eta}|^{2} \, dx$$

by the Schwarz inequality. Since  $\eta = 0$  on  $\Sigma$ , we may extend  $\eta$  to a continuous field in all space by setting  $\eta \equiv 0$  in the complement of  $\mathscr{E} + \Sigma$ . Applying Lemma 2.2, we find

$$\int_{\mathscr{S}} r^{-2} |\eta|^2 dx \leq 4 \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\nabla \eta|^2 dx.$$

Inserting this result into (59) leads to a contradiction unless  $\nabla \eta \equiv 0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ . But  $\eta \equiv 0$  on  $\Sigma$ , hence  $\eta \equiv 0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ , which was to be proved.

*Remark.* Note that the hypothesis  $f \equiv 0$  could be weakened considerably. It would suffice, for example, that  $(E, f)_{\mathscr{E}}$ ,  $(\nabla E, f)_{\mathscr{E}}$ ,  $(e, f)_{\mathscr{E}} = o(r^{-1})$  at infinity.

#### 6. Perturbation to Zero Reynolds' Number

Let w(x) be a solution of the exterior problem for (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$ , such that  $w(x) = w^*$ on  $\Sigma$  and  $w(x) \to w_0$  at infinity. If  $w^* - w_0$  is small, can the corresponding solution u(x) of the linear system (4) or (6) serve as an approximation to w(x)in  $\mathscr{E}$ , and if so, in what sense? The answer to this question appears to depend heavily on the asymptotic structure of the given solution w(x), and also on the way in which the approximation is constructed. The question is conveniently rephrased as a perturbation problem. A given solution w(x) of (2) in  $\mathscr{E}$  will be supposed embedded, for small  $\lambda$ , in a one-parameter family of solutions  $w(x; \lambda) = w_0 + \lambda u(x; \lambda)$ , where  $u(x; \lambda)$ , appearing as a solution of (3), is to achieve fixed boundary data  $u^*$ ,  $u_0$  on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity. Here  $w_0$  is an arbitrary constant vector, which may or may not be velocity at infinity. Let U(x) be a solution of the corresponding linear equations (4), and satisfying the same conditions on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity. One seeks to estimate  $[u(x; \lambda) - U(x)]$  uniformly in  $\mathscr{E}$  for small  $\lambda$ .

The various possibilities available to us may be illustrated by the following considerations. Suppose for simplicity w(x) = w(x; 1) and  $w(x) \to w_0^*$  at infinity. Then it may be convenient to set  $w_0 = w_0^*$  and prescribe  $u(x; \lambda) \to 0$  at infinity for each  $\lambda$ , that is,  $u_0 = 0$ . It will be seen shortly that this case leads to a perturbation which is uniformly well behaved throughout  $\mathscr{E}$ . On the other hand, the equation satisfied by U(x) is still relatively complicated, because of the factor  $w_0$ . Alternatively, one may set  $w_0 = 0$ ,  $u_0 = w_0^*$ , thus perturbing the data at infinity. Then U(x) satisfies the simpler system (6), but the perturbation turns out to be singular at infinity. It leads in the three-dimensional case considered here to Whitehead's paradox [6, p. 163], and in two dimensions to the more striking Stokes paradox, which arises from the fact that, in general, solutions U(x) corresponding to the prescribed data  $u^*$ ,  $u_0$  do not exist  $[\mathscr{S}, 9, 10]^2$ .

A further difficulty arises according to the asymptotic behavior assumed of w(x) at infinity. If the solutions are assumed of the type constructed in § 4, *i.e.*, if  $w(x) \in PR$  (§ 5.2), then for small  $\lambda$  (or, alternatively, for given  $\lambda$  and small  $u^*$ ,  $u_0$ ) the solutions are unique (Theorem 5.10) and the perturbation completely determined by the expansion (44). However, solutions exist which satisfy the stated conditions on  $\Sigma$  and at infinity and which are only known to be of class D. The relation between these solutions and those of class PR is not clear; nevertheless, one may again examine the perturbations for the presumably broader class D in both cases, obtaining uniform estimates in  $\mathscr{E}$ .

There are thus four cases to consider, and we shall take them in turn. In each of these cases it will be necessary to distinguish the subcase  $w_0 = 0$ , as the order of approximation appears generally to be weaker in this situation. Throughout the ensuring discussion it will be supposed that  $f(x) \equiv 0$ , although this assumption could be replaced by suitable hypotheses on f(x).

#### 6.1. Perturbations Vanishing at Infinity

Case 1,  $w \in PR$ . We consider a family of solutions  $w(x; \lambda)$  of  $(2)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$ , corresponding to data  $w^* = w_0 + \lambda u^*$  on  $\Sigma$ , with  $u^*$  prescribed, and we suppose  $|w(x; \lambda) - w_0| < \lambda C(\lambda) |x|^{-\alpha}$  at infinity for some  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ , for each  $\lambda$ .  $C(\lambda)$  is not supposed uniform in  $\lambda$ . If  $\lambda$  is sufficiently small, a solution  $w(x; \lambda)$  can be obtained as an expansion in powers of  $\lambda$  (§ 4), and for small  $\lambda$  this is the only solution in PR (Theorem 5.10). Thus, uniformly in  $\mathscr{E}$ , there holds

(60) 
$$\boldsymbol{w}(x; \lambda) - \boldsymbol{w}_0 = \lambda \left[ \boldsymbol{U}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{u}_j(x) \lambda^j \right]$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The former perturbation  $(u_0=0)$  is similar to the "outer expansion" of KAPLUN, or of PROUDMAN & PEARSON (see, e.g., [19, 20]). If  $u_0 \neq 0$ , one obtains a perturbation analogous to their "inner expansion". See, however, Footnote 7 in [10].

where U(x) is the solution of the linear system  $(4)_0$  which assumes data  $u^*$  on  $\Sigma$  and vanishes at infinity. This relation may be differentiated term by term as many times as the smoothness of the data  $u^*$  will permit. Note that in (60) the functions U(x),  $u_j(x)$  do not depend on  $\lambda$ . This shows, in particular, that  $C(\lambda)$  can be chosen uniformly for all  $\lambda$  sufficiently small.

As a particular consequence we obtain:

**Theorem 6.1.** Let  $w(x; \lambda)$  be a solution of  $(2)_0$  in PR for each  $\lambda$  and set  $u(x; \lambda) = \lambda^{-1}[w(x; \lambda) - w_0]$ . Suppose  $u(x; \lambda) = \begin{cases} u^* \text{ on } \Sigma \\ 0 \text{ at infinity} \end{cases}$ , and let U(x) be the solution of  $(4)_0$  in  $\mathscr E$  with the same data. Then if  $w_0 \neq 0$ , there holds uniformly in  $\mathscr E$  as  $\lambda \to 0$ ,

(61) 
$$|\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C \,\boldsymbol{\lambda} \,\tau(\boldsymbol{x})$$

where  $\tau(x)$  is bounded in  $\mathscr{E}$  and satisfies (50) with  $\overline{\beta}=2$  and  $\overline{\alpha}=1$ . If  $w_0=0$ , then

(62) 
$$|\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C \boldsymbol{\lambda} |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}$$

in E.

That is, any solution w(x) with data on  $\Sigma$  sufficiently close to  $w_0$  can be approximated in  $\mathscr{E}$  by the solution of the linearized equations, to the indicated order.

The proof of (61) may be obtained from (43), noting that  $\nabla G(x, y; w_0) = \nabla E + \nabla A$ . Thus,  $\int u \cdot u \cdot \nabla G \, dy$  splits into two terms, the first of which can be estimated by Theorem 5.1. As to the second, we observe that  $A(x, y; w_0)$  is a solution in  $\mathscr{E}$  of the adjoint of (4)<sub>0</sub>, and, if  $w_0 \neq 0$ , assumes boundary data of the form  $B(x) \tau(x)$ , where B(x) is bounded with all its tangential derivatives on  $\Sigma$ . The methods of § 2.6 then yield estimates for  $A(x, y; w_0)$  as function of y, from which the result follows.

The derivatives admit a corresponding estimate when  $w_0 \pm 0$ , with  $\bar{\beta} = 3$  and any  $\bar{\alpha} < \frac{3}{2}$ . For the pressure one obtains  $\bar{\beta} = 2$  and any  $\bar{\alpha} < 2$ . If  $w_0 = 0$ , then for the derivatives and pressure,  $|x|^{-1}$  should be replaced by  $|x|^{-2}\log|x|$ ,  $|x|^{-2}$ , respectively.

Case 2, Perturbation of Class D. A family of solutions  $u(x; \lambda) = \lambda^{-1}[w(x; \lambda) - w_0]$ of (3)<sub>0</sub> is considered, such that  $u(x; \lambda) = u^*$  on  $\Sigma$ ,  $u(x; \lambda) \to 0$  at infinity, and  $||u||_{\mathscr{E}} < C < \infty$ , uniformly for  $\lambda$  sufficiently small<sup>3</sup>. Again let U(x) be the solution of the linearized system (4)<sub>0</sub> with the same data. Then

(63) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(x;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(x) = \boldsymbol{\lambda} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \boldsymbol{G}(x,y;\boldsymbol{w}_0) \cdot \boldsymbol{u}(y;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{u}(y;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \, dy.$$

Now  $G(x, y; \boldsymbol{w}_0) = E(x-y; \boldsymbol{w}_0) + A(x, y; \boldsymbol{w}_0)$ . Because of (29), there holds in particular  $|E(x-y; \boldsymbol{w}_0)| < C|x-y|^{-1}$ . The estimates of § 2.6 show that for large x,  $|A(x, y; \boldsymbol{w}_0)| < C|x|^{-1}|y|^{-1}$ . We may therefore write

$$\int_{\mathscr{S}} \mathbf{G} \cdot \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{u} \, dy \Big|^{2} \leq \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\mathbf{u}|^{2} (|x-y|^{-2} + |y|^{-2}) \, dy \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|^{2} \, dy$$
$$\leq C$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The existence of such solutions can be proved by a procedure due to LERAY [2]; cf. the remarks in [13, p. 237].

for some uniform constant C, by Schwarz' inequality and Lemma 2.2. Thus, setting  $\eta(x) = u(x; \lambda) - U(x)$ ,

(64) 
$$|\boldsymbol{\eta}(x)| = |\boldsymbol{u}(x; \boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(x)| < C \boldsymbol{\lambda}$$

as  $\lambda \rightarrow 0$ , for all x bounded from  $\Sigma$ . The representation (cf. § 2.3)

(65) 
$$\boldsymbol{\eta}(x) = \boldsymbol{\lambda} \int \boldsymbol{E}^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u} \, dy + \int \boldsymbol{H}^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \, dy$$

then yields a corresponding estimate for the derivatives of  $\eta$  up to second order. Thus, in particular, a bound of the form (64) holds for  $\eta(x)$  and its derivatives on the surface of a sphere  $\Sigma_0$  containing  $\Sigma$  and bounding, with  $\Sigma$ , an annular region  $\mathscr{A}_0$ .

Let  $\boldsymbol{\xi}(x)$  be a solenoidal field in  $\mathscr{A}_0$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\xi}(x) = \boldsymbol{u}^*$  on  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\xi}(x) \equiv 0$ outside  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_0$ . Let  $\boldsymbol{v}(x; \lambda) = \boldsymbol{u}(x; \lambda) - \boldsymbol{\xi}(x)$ . Let  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_1$  be a concentric sphere containing  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_0$ , let  $\mathscr{A}_1$  be the region between  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_1$ . We may represent  $\boldsymbol{v}(x; \lambda)$  in  $\mathscr{A}_1$  by the Green's tensor  $\boldsymbol{G}_0(x, y)$  of (6):

$$v(x; \lambda) = \{G_0, w_0, v\} + \lambda\{G_0, u, u\} + \{G_0, w_0, \xi\} + [G_0, \xi] - (G_0, f) + \\ + \oint_{\Sigma_1} u \cdot T G_0 d\sigma.$$

Because of (64),  $\boldsymbol{u}(x; \lambda)$  is bounded on  $\Sigma_1$ . By assumption,  $\|\boldsymbol{u}(x; \lambda)\| < C$ , hence  $\|\boldsymbol{v}(x; \lambda)\| < C$ . Schwarz' inequality and the Odqvist estimates  $|\boldsymbol{G}_0(x, y)| < C |x-y|^{-1}$ ,  $|\nabla \boldsymbol{G}_0| < C |x-y|^{-2}$  then show that  $|\boldsymbol{v}(x; \lambda)| < C$  in  $\mathscr{A}_0$ ; hence also  $|\boldsymbol{u}(x; \lambda)| < C$  in  $\mathscr{A}_0$ .

Now let  $\zeta(x; \lambda)$  be a solenoidal field in  $\mathscr{A}_0$ , equal to  $\eta$  on  $\Sigma_0$  and vanishing outside a neighborhood of  $\Sigma_0$  which does not meet  $\Sigma$ . Because of what has been proved,  $\zeta(x)$  can be constructed so that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\zeta}\|_{\mathscr{A}} < C\lambda$$

Set  $\gamma = \eta - \zeta$ . Since  $\gamma = 0$  on  $\Sigma$ ,  $\Sigma_0$ , we have in  $\mathscr{A}_0$ ,

$$\|\boldsymbol{\gamma}\|^{2} = -\lambda\{\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}\} - [\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}] - \{\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{w}_{0}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}\}$$
$$= \lambda\{\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}\} - [\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}] - \{\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{w}_{0}, \boldsymbol{\zeta}\}$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{\gamma}\|^{2} + C\lambda^{2} + C \|\boldsymbol{\zeta}\|^{2}$$

for a suitable C, since  $u(x; \lambda)$  is bounded in  $\mathscr{A}_0$ . Hence  $\|\boldsymbol{\gamma}\|_{\mathscr{A}_0} < C\lambda$ , and also (66)  $\|\boldsymbol{\eta}\|_{\mathscr{A}_0} < C\lambda$ .

Finally, we represent  $\eta$  in  $\mathscr{A}_0$  by the fundamental tensor  $G_0$ , obtaining

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}(x; \lambda) = \{G_0, w_0, \eta\} + \lambda\{G_0, u, u\} + \oint_{\Sigma_0} \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot T G_0 \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$

Since on  $\Sigma_0$ ,  $|\eta| < C\lambda$  by (64), (66) implies that (64) holds up to  $\Sigma$  for a suitable C. Similarly, one may estimate the derivatives and the pressure terms. We have proved

Theorem 6.2. Let  $w(x; \lambda)$  be a family of solutions of  $(2)_0$ , such that if  $u(x; \lambda) = \lambda^{-1}[w(x; \lambda) - w_0]$ , then  $u(x; \lambda) \to 0$  at infinity and  $u(x; \lambda) = u^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . Suppose further that  $||u(x; \lambda)|| < C$ , uniformly for small  $\lambda$ . Then there holds uniformly in Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., Vol. 19 27a

**ROBERT FINN:** 

for the solution U(x) of  $(4)_0$  in  $\mathcal{E}$  with corresponding data.

Note that in this case the method does not lead to improved estimates when  $\boldsymbol{w}_0 \neq 0$ .

For the derivatives one obtains a stronger estimate:

**Theorem 6.2a.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 6.2, there holds for x bounded from  $\Sigma$ ,

$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(x; \boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(x)| < C[\boldsymbol{\lambda}^2 + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \tau_1(x)]$$

where  $\tau_1(x)$  satisfies (50) with  $\bar{\beta} = 3$  and any  $\bar{\alpha} < \frac{3}{2}$  when  $w_0 \neq 0$ ; if  $w_0 = 0$ , the same inequality holds if  $\tau_1(x)$  is replaced by  $|x|^{-2} \log |x|$ . Uniformly up to  $\Sigma$ , one has

$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C \boldsymbol{\lambda}$$

Proof. From

$$\eta(x) = \lambda\{G, u, u\}$$

we find

$$\begin{split} \eta(x) &= \lambda\{G, \eta, \eta\} + \lambda\{G, \eta, U\} + \lambda\{G, U, \eta\} + \lambda\{G, U, U\} \\ &= \lambda(\eta_1 + \eta_2 + \eta_3 + \eta_4) \,. \end{split}$$

Let V be a unit ball centered at x, S its surface. Then for any derivative  $\eta'(x)$ ,

$$\eta_1' = \{G', \eta, \eta\}_V + \{G', \eta, \eta\}_{\mathscr{S}-V},$$
$$|\eta_1'| \leq C \lambda^2 + \lambda \|G'\|_{\mathscr{S}-V} \|\eta\|_{\mathscr{S}-V}$$
$$\leq C \lambda$$

for small  $\lambda$ , by Theorem 6.2, Schwarz' inequality, (65), and the hypothesis  $\|u\| < C$ .  $\eta'_2$  is estimated similarly. Next, integrating by parts,

$$\begin{split} \eta'_{3} &= \{G', U, \eta\}_{V} + \oint_{S} (G' \cdot U) \eta \, d\sigma - \{\eta, U, G'\}_{\mathscr{E} - V}, \\ |\eta'_{3}| &\leq \lambda |x|^{-1} + \lambda |x|^{-1} + \lambda [U, G'']_{\mathscr{E} - V} \\ &\leq C \, \lambda \end{split}$$

for small  $\lambda$ . Finally, we may write

$$\eta_4 = -\{U, U, E\} - \{U, U, A\}.$$

To the first term, we may apply the method of proof of Theorem 5.3 or Theorem 5.5. In the second, we observe that  $A_x(x, y; w_0)$  is a solution in  $\mathscr{E}$  of the adjoint of  $(4)_0$ , and, if  $w_0 \neq 0$ , assumes boundary data of the form  $B(x) \tau_1(x)$ , where  $\tau_1(x)$  satisfies (50) with  $\overline{\beta} = 3$ , any  $\overline{\alpha} < \frac{3}{2}$ , and B(x) is bounded with all its tangential derivatives on  $\Sigma$ . The result then follows from the estimates of § 2.6. If  $w_0 = 0$ , one uses the estimate  $|A_x| < C|x|^{-2}$  on  $\Sigma$ . This establishes the theorem when x is bounded away from  $\Sigma$ . For x near  $\Sigma$ , the result is obtained by a procedure analogous to the discussion of this case for Theorem 6.2.

#### 6.2. A Lemma on Green's Tensor

We shall need information on the variation of the Green's tensor, as function of the parameter  $w_0$ .

Lemma 6.3. Uniformly for  $y \in \Sigma$ , there holds as  $x \to \infty$ , if  $w_0 \neq 0$ ,  $\overline{w}_0 = (1-\lambda) w_0$ ,

(68) 
$$|TG(x, y; w_0) - TG(x, y; \overline{w}_0)| < C \lambda \tau(x)$$

where  $\tau(x)$  satisfies (50) with  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 2$ . Also,

(69) 
$$|T \nabla_x G(x, y; \boldsymbol{w}_0) - T \nabla_x G(x, y; \overline{\boldsymbol{w}}_0)| < C \lambda \tau_1(x)$$

where  $\tau_1(x)$  satisfies (50) with any  $\alpha < \frac{3}{2}$  and  $\beta = 3$ .

**Proof.** We have  $G(x, y; w_0) = E(x - y; w_0) + A(x, y; w_0)$ . Using the relation  $E(x; tw_0) = tE(tx; w_0)$  with  $t = 1 - \lambda$  leads to

(70) 
$$E(x; tw_0) - E(x; w_0) = E(tx; w_0) - E(x; w_0) - \lambda E(tx; w_0),$$

so that, applying the mean value theorem to the first two terms on the right,

(71) 
$$|\boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x}; t\boldsymbol{w}_0) - \boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x}; \boldsymbol{w}_0)| < C \,\lambda \,\tau(\boldsymbol{x})$$

where  $\tau(x)$  has the properties indicated above.

Differentiating (70) in x,

(72) 
$$\nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x; t\boldsymbol{w}_0) - \nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x; \boldsymbol{w}_0) = \nabla \boldsymbol{E}(tx; \boldsymbol{w}_0) - \nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x; \boldsymbol{w}_0) - \lambda(2-\lambda) \nabla \boldsymbol{E}(tx; \boldsymbol{w}_0).$$

Again using the mean value theorem,

(73) 
$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x; t \boldsymbol{w}_0) - \nabla \boldsymbol{E}(x; \boldsymbol{w}_0)| < C \lambda \tau_1(x)$$

where  $\tau_1$  satisfies (50) with  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$ ,  $\beta = 3$ . The pressure term, e(x-y) does not depend on  $w_0$ . Hence, (68) is verified for the singular part of  $G(x, y; w_0)$ .

The regular part  $A(x, y; w_0)$  satisfies the system

(74) 
$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \boldsymbol{u} + \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{p} &= 0, \\ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} &= 0 \end{aligned}$$

as function of y, and  $A = A^* = E(x, y; w_0)$  for y on  $\Sigma$ . We may write  $A^* = B^* \tau(x)$ , where  $B^*$  is bounded and has bounded derivatives on  $\Sigma$ , uniformly as  $x \to \infty$ .

The field  $\overline{A} = A(x, y; t w_0)$  satisfies

(75) 
$$\Delta u + w_0 \cdot \nabla u - \nabla p = -\lambda w_0 \cdot \nabla u,$$
$$\nabla \cdot u = 0.$$

We may write, because of the linearity of (75),

 $\bar{A} = \bar{A}_1 + \bar{A}_2$ 

where  $\overline{A}_1 = A^*$  on  $\Sigma$ ,  $\overline{A}_2 = E(x, y; w_0) - E(x, y; t w_0)$  on  $\Sigma$ , and  $\overline{A}_1$ ,  $\overline{A}_2$  each satisfy (75) in y.

We may write  $A - \overline{A} = \eta - \overline{A}_2$ , where  $\eta = A - \overline{A}_1$ .  $\eta$  and  $\overline{A}_2$  will be estimated in turn.

Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., Vol. 19

Using the estimates of Theorem 2.8 and its Corollary on the solutions of the linear systems, we find

$$\overline{A}_1(x, y; \lambda) = B_1(x, y; \lambda) \tau(x)$$

where  $B_1(x, y; \lambda)$  satisfies (75) in y, is bounded together with its derivatives up to  $\Sigma$ , and admits estimates of the form (31) in y uniformly in x for all sufficiently small  $\lambda$ .

The field  $-\eta(x, y)$  satisfies

(76) 
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{\eta} - \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\eta} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{p} = \lambda \, \boldsymbol{w}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\bar{A}}_1,$$
$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} = 0$$

in  $\mathscr{E}$ , and  $\eta = 0$  for  $y \in \Sigma$ . Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \eta(x, y) &= -\lambda \{ G(x, y; t \, w_0), \, w_0, \, \bar{A} \} \\ &= -\lambda \, \tau(x) \{ G(x, y; t \, w_0), \, w_0, \, B_1 \}. \end{aligned}$$

For large x,  $G(x, y; t w_0)$  is in  $L_p(\mathscr{E})$  whenever 2 , uniformly for <math>|t-1| sufficiently small. Also,  $|\nabla B|$  is in  $L_q(\mathscr{E})$  whenever  $q > \frac{4}{3}$ . Choosing p and q in these intervals, such that  $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ , we obtain

(77) 
$$|\boldsymbol{\eta}(x,y)| \leq \lambda \tau(x) |\boldsymbol{w}_{0}| \left( \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\boldsymbol{G}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left( \int_{\mathscr{S}} |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|^{q} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < C \lambda \tau(x)$$

uniformly for small  $\lambda$  and large x.

Suppose  $y \in \Sigma_0$ , a spherical surface containing  $\Sigma$ . We represent  $\eta(x, y)$  by the truncated tensor (cf. § 2.3), obtaining

(78) 
$$\eta(x, y) = -\lambda \{ E^{\gamma}(y, z; t w_0), w_0, A_1 \}_{V^{\gamma}} + (H^{\gamma}, \eta)_{V^{\gamma}} \}$$

From (78) we conclude

 $|V_{y}\eta(x, y)| < C\lambda \tau(x)$ 

for  $y \in \Sigma$ , and corresponding estimates for all higher derivatives of  $\eta$ .

Hence we may construct, for each x and t, a solenoidal field  $\zeta(y)$  in the region  $\mathscr{A}_0$  between  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma_0$ , vanishing outside a given neighborhood of  $\Sigma_0$ , such that  $\zeta = \eta$  on  $\Sigma_0$ , and such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\zeta}\|_{\mathscr{A}_{o}} < C \lambda \tau(\boldsymbol{x}).$$

Set  $v = \eta - \zeta$ . We find, since v = 0 on  $\Sigma$ ,  $\Sigma_0$ ,

$$\|v\|^2 = \lambda \{v, w_0, \overline{A}_1\} - [v, \zeta] - \{v, w_0, \zeta\}$$

from which we conclude

$$\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathscr{A}_{o}} < C \lambda \tau(x)$$

and hence

$$\eta \mid_{\mathscr{A}} < C \lambda \tau(x).$$

Now represent  $\eta$  in  $\mathscr{A}_0$  by the Odqvist tensor  $G_0(x, y)$  for (6):

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y}) = -\{\boldsymbol{G}_0,\boldsymbol{w}_0,\boldsymbol{\eta}\} - \lambda\{\boldsymbol{G}_0,\boldsymbol{w}_0,\bar{\boldsymbol{A}}_1\} - \oint_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_0} \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot T \boldsymbol{G}_0 \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$

The above estimates of  $\eta$  on  $\Sigma_0$ , of  $\|\eta\|_{\mathscr{A}_0}$ , and of  $\overline{A}_1$ , and the Odqvist estimates for  $G_0(x, y)$  in  $\mathscr{A}_0$ , yield the results

(79) 
$$|\boldsymbol{\eta}(x, y)|, |T\boldsymbol{\eta}(x, y)| < C \lambda \tau(x)$$

up to  $\Sigma$ .

It remains to estimate  $\overline{A}_2$ . On  $\Sigma$ ,  $|\overline{A}_2| < C \lambda \tau(x)$  with a corresponding estimate for its tangential derivatives of all orders. Hence we may write

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{2}(x, y; \lambda) = \lambda \tau(x) \boldsymbol{B}_{2}(x, y; \lambda)$$

where  $B_2(x, y; \lambda)$  has the same properties as were shown for  $B_1(x, y; \lambda)$ . Thus,  $|TB_2|$  is bounded up to  $\Sigma$ , and therefore

$$|T\bar{A}_2| < C\lambda \tau(x)$$

up to  $\Sigma$ . This completes the proof of the first part of the lemma. The remaining estimate (69) is obtained by the same procedure, using the appropriate estimates for the derivatives of the fundamental tensor when  $y \in \Sigma$  and |x| is large.

**Lemma 6.4.** Suppose  $w_0 = 0$ ,  $|\overline{w}_0| < \lambda$ . Then there holds for  $y \in \Sigma$ , as  $x \to \infty$ ,

$$|TG(x, y; 0) - TG(x, y; \overline{w}_0)| < C \tau_0(x; \lambda)$$

where

$$\tau_0(x; \lambda) = \min \left( \lambda \log \lambda^{-1}, |x|^{-1} \log |x| \right).$$

Also,

$$|T \nabla_x G(x, y; 0) - T \nabla_x G(x, y; \overline{w}_0)| < C \tau'_0(x, y)$$

where  $\tau'_0 = 1/\overline{\lambda} |x|^{-1}$ .

**Proof.** Observe first that the change of E can not be estimated as above, and it is necessary to obtain this estimate directly from the defining relations (16). A formal calculation yields

(80) 
$$|\boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{w}_{0}) - \boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x};0)| < C \min(\lambda, |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}), \\ |\boldsymbol{\nabla}\boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{w}_{0}) - \boldsymbol{\nabla}\boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{x};0)| < C \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}.$$

For the regular part A(x, y) we write as before  $\overline{A} = \overline{A}_1 + \overline{A}_2$ , with  $\overline{A}_1 = A$  on  $\Sigma$ , and set  $\eta = A - \overline{A}_1$ .  $\eta(x, y)$  satisfies

(81) 
$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \boldsymbol{\eta} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{p} &= - \, \overline{\boldsymbol{w}}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{A}_1, \\ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} &= 0 \end{aligned}$$

as function of y, and  $\eta = 0$  on  $\Sigma$ . We represent  $\eta$  over the region  $\mathscr{E}_R$  between  $\Sigma$  and a sphere of large radius  $\Sigma_R$ , using the Green's tensor G(x, y) for (6) in  $\mathscr{E}$ :

(82) 
$$\boldsymbol{\eta}(x,y) = -\int\limits_{\mathscr{E}_R} \boldsymbol{G}(y,z) \cdot \boldsymbol{\overline{w}}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\overline{A}}_1(z) \, dz + \oint\limits_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_R} (\boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \boldsymbol{T} \boldsymbol{G} - \boldsymbol{G} \cdot \boldsymbol{T} \boldsymbol{\eta}) \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$

Using (29) and the results of § 2.5, we find  $\overline{A}_1 = B_1(x, y) |x|^{-1}$  where  $B_1(x, y)$  satisfies (81) and remains bounded as  $x \to \infty$ ,  $\lambda \to 0$ . Consequently, on a surface  $\Sigma_r$ , there holds

(83) 
$$\oint_{\Sigma_{\boldsymbol{B}}} |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_1| \, d\sigma < C$$

uniformly for large x, as  $\lambda \rightarrow 0$ .

Consider (82) for a point y on a fixed spherical surface  $\Sigma_0$  containing  $\Sigma$  but inside  $\Sigma_R$ . One has

$$|G(y,z)| < C[r_{z}^{-1}r_{y}^{-1}+r_{yz}^{-1}];$$

hence using (83),

$$\left|\int\limits_{\mathscr{E}_{R}} \boldsymbol{G}(\boldsymbol{y},\boldsymbol{z}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\overline{w}}_{0} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{z}) \, d\boldsymbol{z}\right| < C \, \lambda \log R$$

for  $y \in \Sigma_0$ .

On  $\Sigma_R$ ,  $|\eta| < CR^{-1}$ ,  $|G| < CR^{-1}$ ,  $|TG| < CR^{-2}$ , and  $\oint_{\Sigma_R} |T\eta| d\sigma < C$ , if  $y \in \Sigma_0$ . Hence

$$\oint_{\Sigma_R} (\boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot T \boldsymbol{G} - \boldsymbol{G} \cdot T \boldsymbol{\eta}) \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma} \Big| < C R^{-1}$$

for large R and  $y \in \Sigma_0$ . Thus

$$|\eta(x, y)| < C[R^{-1} + \lambda |x|^{-1} \log R].$$

The choice  $R = \lambda^{-1} |x|$  yields the estimate

$$|\eta(x, y)| < C\lambda |x|^{-1} \log \lambda^{-1} |x|$$

for large x and small  $\lambda$ , and  $y \in \Sigma_0$ .

Now we may represent  $\eta(x, y)$  in  $\mathscr{A}_0$  by means of the Green's tensor  $G_0(x, y)$  for  $\mathscr{A}_0$ . The procedure is identical to the one used in proving the previous lemma. We find

$$|T\eta| < C\lambda |x|^{-1}\log \lambda^{-1} |x|$$

for large x, small  $\lambda$ , and  $y \in \Sigma$ .

To estimate  $\overline{A}_2$ , observe that on  $\Sigma$  we have  $|\overline{A}_2| < C \min(\lambda, |x|^{-1})$  with stronger estimates for its tangential derivatives, and  $\overline{A}_2$  satisfies

$$\Delta \bar{A}_2 - \nabla p = \bar{w}_0 \cdot \nabla \bar{A}_2,$$
$$\nabla \cdot \bar{A}_2 = 0$$

in  $\mathscr{E}$ . The results of § 2.5 show that

 $|T\bar{A}_2| < C \min(\lambda, |x|^{-1})$ 

on  $\Sigma$ .

Collecting the above estimates, one obtains easily the first assertion of the lemma. The second assertion follows from the same procedure, using the estimate for the variation of  $\nabla E$ . In this case, the volume integral is convergent.

#### 6.3. General Perturbation of Class PR

It will be assumed throughout that the direction of the velocity field is unvaried at infinity, that is,  $u_0$  and  $w_0$  are parallel if  $w_0 \neq 0$ . If  $w_0=0$ , no restriction is made on  $u_0$ .

**Theorem 6.5.** Let  $w(x; \lambda)$  be a family of solutions of  $(2)_0$  of class PR, such that if  $u(x; \lambda) = \lambda^{-1} [w(x; \lambda) - w_0]$ , then  $u(x; \lambda) = u^*$  on  $\Sigma$  and  $u(x; \lambda) \to u_0$  as  $x \to \infty$ . Let U(x) be the solution of the linearized system  $(4)_0$  with corresponding data. Then if  $w_0 \neq 0$  there holds uniformly in  $\mathscr{E}$ , as  $\lambda \to 0$ ,

$$|\boldsymbol{u}(x; \boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(x)| < C \boldsymbol{\lambda} \tau(x)$$

where  $\tau(x)$  satisfies (50) with  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 2$ . If  $w_0 = 0$ , then  $|u(x; \lambda) - U(x)| < C \tau_0(x; \lambda)$ 

where  $\tau_0(x; \lambda) = \min(\lambda \log \lambda^{-1}, |x|^{-1} \log |x|).$ 

**Proof.** For small  $\lambda$ , solutions of the indicated class exist (§ 4), and they are unique (Theorem 5.10). Therefore the solutions  $w(x; \lambda)$  can be represented by an expansion (44) based on the equations

(84) 
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{u} - (\boldsymbol{w}_0 + \lambda \boldsymbol{u}_0) \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u} - \nabla \boldsymbol{p} = \lambda (\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_0) \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u},$$
$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{w} = 0$$

for each  $\lambda$ , from which one sees from the method of construction that the perturbations are uniformly in PR, *i.e.*,  $|u-u_0| < C|x|^{-1}$ , with C independent of  $\lambda$  if  $\lambda$  is small.

We have

$$u(x; \lambda) - u_0 = \lambda \{\overline{G}, u - u_0, u - u_0\} + \oint_{\Sigma} (u^* - u_0) \cdot T \overline{G} d\sigma$$
$$= -\lambda \{u - u_0, u - u_0, \overline{G}\} + \oint_{\Sigma} (u^* - u_0) \cdot T \overline{G} d\sigma$$

where  $\overline{G} = G(x, y; w_0 + \lambda u_0)$ , while

$$U(x) - u_0 = \oint_{\Sigma} (u^* - u_0) \cdot T G \, d\sigma$$

with  $G = G(x, y; w_0)$ . Thus

(85) 
$$\boldsymbol{u}(x; \boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(x) = -\boldsymbol{\lambda}\{\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_0, \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_0, \overline{\boldsymbol{G}}\} + \oint_{\Sigma} (\boldsymbol{u}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_0) (T \, \overline{\boldsymbol{G}} - T \, \boldsymbol{G}) \, d\boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$

Suppose first  $w_0 \neq 0$ . Since  $u - u_0 \in PR$ , it satisfies (50) with  $\alpha = 1, \beta = 2$ . Therefore, as in the proof of Theorem 6.1, the volume integral on the right satisfies (50) with any  $\bar{\alpha} = 1, \bar{\beta} = 2$ . To the surface integral we apply Lemma 6.3. This yields the asserted theorem if |x| is large. If x is near  $\Sigma$  one may proceed in a way analogous to the corresponding estimate near  $\Sigma$  in the proof of Theorem 6.2, and there should be no need to reiterate the details.

If  $w_0=0$ , the method is the same, only Lemma 6.3 must be replaced by Lemma 6.4.

**Theorem 6.5a.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 6.5, if  $w_0 \neq 0$ , there holds

(86) 
$$\left| \nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}; \boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x}) \right| < C \,\boldsymbol{\lambda} \,\tau_1(\boldsymbol{x})$$

where  $\tau_1(x)$  is as in Lemma 6.3. If  $w_0=0$ , then

(87) 
$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C \, ||\boldsymbol{\lambda}| \, |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}.$$

**Proof.** The volume integral in (85) can be differentiated and estimated as in the proof of Theorem 6.2a. To the surface integral we apply the second part of Lemma 6.3 or 6.4.

#### 6.4. General Perturbation of Class D

**Theorem 6.6.** Let  $w(x; \lambda)$  be a family of solutions of  $(2)_0$ , such that if  $u(x; \lambda) = \lambda^{-1}[w(x; \lambda) - w_0]$ , then  $u(x; \lambda) \rightarrow u_0$  at infinity and  $u(x; \lambda) = u^*$  on  $\Sigma$ . Suppose further that  $||u(x; \lambda)|| < C$ , uniformly for small  $\lambda$ . Then if  $w_0 \neq 0$ , there holds

uniformly in  $\mathscr{E}$ , as  $\lambda \rightarrow 0$ ,

$$|\boldsymbol{u}(x; \lambda) - \boldsymbol{U}(x)| < C \lambda$$

for the solution U(x) of  $(4)_0$  in  $\mathscr{E}$  with corresponding data. If  $w_0=0$ , one has

(88) 
$$|\boldsymbol{u}(x;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \boldsymbol{U}(x)| < C(\tau_0(x;\boldsymbol{\lambda}) + \boldsymbol{\lambda})$$

where  $\tau_0(x; \lambda) = \min(\lambda \log \lambda^{-1}, |x|^{-1} \log |x|).$ 

**Proof.** Suppose first  $w_0 \neq 0$ . The functions  $u(x; \lambda) - U(x) = \eta(x; \lambda)$  admit the representation

$$\eta(x;\lambda) = -\lambda\{\overline{G}, u - u_0, u - u_0\} + \oint_{\Sigma} (u^* - u_0) (T\overline{G} - TG) d\sigma$$

with  $G = G(x, y; w_0 + \lambda u_0)$ ,  $G = G(x, y; w_0)$ . Thus, applying the Schwarz inequality and Lemma 2.2 to the volume integral, and Lemma 6.3 to the surface integral, we obtain  $|\eta| < C\lambda$  uniformly over  $\mathscr{E}$ , as  $\lambda \to 0$ .

If  $w_0=0$ , the same reasoning, with Lemma 6.3 replaced by Lemma 6.4, yields  $|\eta| < C[\min(\lambda \log \lambda^{-1}, |x|^{-1} \log |x|) + \lambda]$  the stated result.

For the derivatives one may obtain an improved result. Again suppose first  $w_0 \neq 0$ . We have, for a derivative  $\eta'$ ,

$$\eta'(x; \lambda) = -\lambda\{\overline{G}', u-u_0, u-u_0\} + \oint_{\Sigma} (u^*-u_0) (T\overline{G}'-TG') d\sigma.$$

The volume integral is amenable to the method of proof of Theorem 6.2a, yielding again an estimate

$$|\{\overline{\boldsymbol{G}}', \boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{u}_0, \boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{u}_0\}| < C(\lambda^2 + \lambda \tau_1(\boldsymbol{x}))$$

where  $\tau_1(x)$  is as in Theorem 6.2a. To the surface term we apply Lemma 6.3. In case  $w_0 = 0$ , we repeat the reasoning, using the second part of Theorem 6.2a and Lemma 6.4.

These estimates hold if x is bounded from  $\Sigma$ . Estimates up to  $\Sigma$  follow from the method used in the proof of Theorem 6.2. Thus we have

**Theorem 6.6a.** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 6.6, if  $w_0 \neq 0$ , there holds

(89) 
$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C \boldsymbol{\lambda}$$

uniformly in E, and

(90) 
$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(x;\lambda) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(x)| < C(\lambda^2 + \lambda \tau_1(x))$$

for x bounded from  $\Sigma$ , where  $\tau(x)$  satisfies (50) with  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 2$ . If  $w_0 = 0$ , (89) and (90) are replaced by

(91) 
$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C \,\lambda \log \,\lambda^{-1}$$

uniformly in  $\mathcal{E}$  for small  $\lambda$ , and

(92) 
$$|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - \nabla \boldsymbol{U}(\boldsymbol{x})| < C(\boldsymbol{\lambda}^2 + \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\lambda}} |\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1})$$

for x bounded from  $\Sigma$ .

The Table summarizes the results of this section. In this table the following notation is used:

$$\begin{split} \eta(x;\lambda) &= u(x;\lambda) - U(x), \text{ where } u(x;\lambda), U(x) \text{ are solutions of } (\mathfrak{Z})_0, (\mathfrak{A})_0, \\ & \text{respectively, with the same data.} \\ \tau_0(x;\lambda) &= \min(\lambda \log \lambda^{-1}, |x|^{-1} \log |x|). \\ \tau(x) &= \text{function satisfying (50), with } \alpha = 1, \beta = 2. \\ \tau_1(x) &= \text{function satisfying (50), with } \beta = \mathfrak{Z}, \text{ any } \alpha < \frac{\mathfrak{Z}}{2}. \\ \tau_2(x) &= \text{function satisfying (50), with } \alpha = 2, \beta = 4. \end{split}$$

Table. Perturbation estimates for small Reynolds' number The symbols  $\eta$ ,  $\tau_i$  are defined at the end of § 6.4.

Flow Class	Limiting Velocity	Limiting Perturbation	Uniform Estimate in d	Estimate away from $\Sigma$
PR		<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	$\begin{split} \eta(x; \lambda) &= \sum_{1}^{\infty} u_j(x) \lambda^j \\  \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda \tau(x) \\  \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda \tau(x) \end{split}$	same
	<b>w</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	<b>u</b> 0=0	$\frac{ \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda \tau(x)}{ \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda \tau_1(x)}$	same
		<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	$\begin{aligned} \eta(x; \lambda) &= \sum_{1}^{\infty} u_j(x) \lambda^j \\  \eta(x; \lambda)  &< C \lambda  x ^{-1} \\  \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  &< C \lambda  x ^{-2} \log  x  \end{aligned}$	same
		<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	$\frac{ \eta(x;\lambda)  < C \tau_0(x;\lambda)}{ \nabla \eta(x;\lambda)  < C \sqrt{\lambda}  x ^{-1}}$	same
D		<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	$\frac{ \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda}{ \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda}$	$ \nabla \eta(x;\lambda)  < C[\lambda^2 + \lambda \tau_1(x)]$
	w <sub>0</sub> =0	<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> ≠0	$ \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda$ $ \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda$	$ \nabla \eta(x;\lambda)  < C[\lambda^2 + \lambda \tau_1(x)]$
		<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	$\begin{aligned} & \eta(x;\lambda)  < C \lambda \\ & \nabla \eta(x;\lambda)  < C \lambda \end{aligned}$	$\frac{ \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  <}{< C[\lambda^2 +  x ^{-2} \log  x ]}$
	<b>w</b> <sub>0</sub> =0	<b>u</b> <sub>0</sub> +0	$\frac{ \eta(x; \lambda) < C(\tau_0(x; \lambda) + \lambda)}{ \nabla \eta(x; \lambda)  < C \lambda \log \lambda^{-1}}$	$ \nabla \eta(x;\lambda)  < C[\lambda^2 + \sqrt{\lambda} x ^{-1}]$

This work was supported in part by United States Air Force contract AF 49(638) 1345 at Stanford University.

#### References

 [1] VELTE, W., Stabilitätsverhalten und Verzweigung stationärer Lösungen der Navier-Stokesschen Gleichungen. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 16, 97-125 (1964).

- [2] LERAY, J., Étude de diverses équations intégrales non linéaires et de quelques problèmes que pose l'hydrodynamique. J. Math. Pures Appl. 9, 1-82 (1933). See also: Les problèmes non linéaires. Enseignement Math. 35, 139-151 (1936).
- [3] FINN, R., On steady-state solutions of the Navier-Stokes partial differential equations. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 3, 381-396 (1959).
- [4] FINN, R., Stationary solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations. Proc. Symp. Appl. Math. 19 (1965), Amer. Math. Soc.
- [5] FUJITA, H., On the existence and regularity of the steady-state solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations. J. Fac. Sci., Univ. of Tokyo 9, 59-102 (1961).
- [6] OSEEN, C. W., Neuere Methoden und Ergebnisse in der Hydrodynamik. Leipzig: Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft m.b.H. 1927.
- [7] FINN, R., Estimates at infinity for stationary solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations. Bull. Math. de la Soc. Sci. Math. Phys. de la R.P.R. 3(51), 387-418 (1959). See also: Amer. Math. Soc. Proc. Symposia Pure Math. 4, 143-148 (1961).
- [8] STOKES, G. G., On the theories of the internal friction of fluids in motion, etc. Math. and Phys. Papers, vol. I, p. 75 (1845).
- [9] CHANG, I-DEE, & R. FINN, On the solutions of a class of equations occurring in continuum mechanics, with application to the Stokes paradox. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 7, 388-401 (1961).
- [10] FINN, R., On the Stokes Paradox and Related Questions. In: Nonlinear Problems. Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press 1963.
- [11] EDWARDS, J. E., On the Existence of Solutions of the Steady-State Navier-Stokes Equations for a Class of Non-Smooth Boundary Data. Dissertation, Stanford University, 1963; Tech. Rep. Lockheed Missiles and Space Co., Sunnyvale, Calif. 6-90-63-70 (1963).
- [12] PAYNE, L. E., & H. F. WEINBERGER, Note on a lemma of Finn and Gilbarg. Acta Math. 98, 297-299 (1957).
- [13] FINN, R., On the steady-state solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations, III. Acta Math. 105, 197-244 (1961).
- [14] RELLICH, F., Ein Satz über mittlere Konvergenz. Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen, Math. Phys. Kl. (1930).
- [15] ODQVIST, F. K. G., Die Randwertaufgaben der Hydrodynamik z

  äher Fl

  üssigkeiten. Stockholm: P. A. Norstedt & S

  öner 1928. See also: Math. Z. 32, 329-375 (1930).
- [16] LADYZHENSKAIA, O. A., The Mathematical Theory of Viscous Incompressible Flow. New York: Gordon & Breach (Transl. from Russian).
- [17] LADYZHENSKAIA, O. A., Investigation of the Navier-Stokes equations in the case of stationary motion of an incompressible fluid. Uspehi Mat. Nauk 3, 75-97 (1959).
- [18] BERKER, R., Sur les forces exercées par un fluide visqueux sur un obstacle. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 2, 260-280 (1952).
- [19] KAPLUN, S., & P. A. LAGERSTROM, Asymptotic expansions of Navier-Stokes solutions for small Reynolds numbers. J. Math. and Mech. 6, 585-593 (1957).
- [20] PROUDMAN, I., & J. R. A. PEARSON, Expansion at small Reynolds' numbers for the flow past a sphere and a circular cylinder. J. Fluid Mech. 2, 237-262 (1957).

Department of Mathematics Stanford University California

(Received February 11, 1965)